Brain, Behavior, and Immunity 60 (2017) 369-382

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Brain, Behavior, and Immunity

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ybrbi

Review Article

Does neuroinflammation drive the relationship between tau hyperphosphorylation and dementia development following traumatic brain injury?

Lyndsey E. Collins-Praino, Frances Corrigan*

Translational Neuropathology Lab, Discipline of Anatomy and Pathology, School of Medicine, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 4 July 2016 Received in revised form 6 September 2016 Accepted 25 September 2016 Available online 28 September 2016

Keywords: Traumatic brain injury Alzheimer's disease Chronic traumatic encephalopathy Tau Neuroinflammation

ABSTRACT

A history of traumatic brain injury (TBI) is linked to an increased risk for the later development of dementia. This encompasses a variety of neurodegenerative diseases including Alzheimer's Disease (AD) and chronic traumatic encephalopathy (CTE), with AD linked to history of moderate-severe TBI and CTE to a history of repeated concussion. Of note, both AD and CTE are characterized by the abnormal accumulation of hyperphosphorylated tau aggregates, which are thought to play an important role in the development of neurodegeneration. Hyperphosphorylation of tau leads to destabilization of microtubules, interrupting axonal transport, whilst tau aggregates are associated with synaptic dysfunction. The exact mechanisms via which TBI may promote the later tauopathy and its role in the later development of dementia are yet to be fully determined. Following TBI, it is proposed that axonal injury may provide the initial perturbation of tau, by promoting its dissociation from microtubules, facilitating its phosphorylation and aggregation. Altered tau dynamics may then be exacerbated by the chronic persistent inflammatory response that has been shown to persist for decades following the initial impact. Importantly, immune activation has been shown to play a role in accelerating disease progression in other tauopathies, with pro-inflammatory cytokines, like IL-1 β , shown to activate kinases that promote tau hyperphosphorylation. Thus, targeting the inflammatory response in the sub-acute phase following TBI may represent a promising target to halt the alterations in tau dynamics that may precede overt neurodegeneration and later development of dementia.

© 2016 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction
2.	Traumatic brain injury
3.	Link between TBI and dementia
4.	Role of tau in dementia 371
5.	Evidence for alteration in tau dynamics following TBI
6.	What causes alternation in tau dynamics following TBI?
	6.1. Persistent Inflammation Following TBI
7.	Role of the immune system in promoting tau phosphorylation 376
8.	Could targeting inflammation prevent the aggregation of tau and the subsequent development of dementia following TBI?
9.	Future directions
10.	Conclusion
	Acknowledgments
	References

* Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: lyndsey.collins-praino@adelaide.edu.au (L.E. Collins-Praino), frances.corrigan@adelaide.edu.au (F. Corrigan).







1. Introduction

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is a major cause of disability and mortality worldwide. In the United States, it is estimated that 1.7 million people sustain a TBI each year (Frieden et al., 2014), with estimates that up to 60 million people worldwide may be affected annually (Feigin et al., 2013). A growing body of research has highlighted that the consequences of TBI may not just be limited to the acute stage, as a history of TBI is linked to the later development of neurodegeneration and dementia. A recent report has highlighted that the dementia related to a history of TBI may be caused by a persistent neuroinflammatory response which does not resolve after the initial impact, which promotes ongoing neuronal loss and synaptic dysfunction (Faden and Loane, 2015). In some individuals, this neuronal loss may eventually lead to a presentation that aligns with Alzheimer's disease (AD) or chronic traumatic encephalopathy (CTE), tauopathies that are characterized by the presence of neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) and increased levels of oligomeric tau. The exact mechanisms via which TBI promotes tauopathy and its role in the later development of dementia are yet to be fully determined. However, it is likely that the persistent inflammatory response may play a role, as inflammation is known to promote tau phosphorylation and accelerate disease progression in other animal tauopathy models. Understanding the link between TBI, neuroinflammation and accumulation of abnormal species may be a crucial first step for developing timely interventions that may prevent later neurodegeneration.

2. Traumatic brain injury

TBI results from the head impacting with an object or from acceleration/deceleration forces, with the resultant translational and/or rotational forces damaging the blood vessels, axons, nerve cells and glia of the brain in a focal, multifocal or diffuse pattern of involvement (Finnie and Blumbergs, 2002). This primary injury can be either focal, as in skull fractures, intracranial hemorrhages, and contusions, or diffuse, with the acceleration/deceleration forces that result from violent unrestrained head movement, such as in a motor vehicle accident, associated with diffuse axonal injury (DAI) (Abou-Hamden et al., 1997). Whereas this primary injury is not reversible, its delayed consequences and the secondary injury cascade it sets in motion over minutes to days are potentially reversible (Graham et al., 2000), with increasing recognition that some aspects of the secondary injury cascade may even persist for decades after the initial insult (Faden et al., 2016). Injury factors that contribute to this phenomenon include metabolic changes, edema formation, calcium influx, increased oxidative stress, excitotoxicity, inflammation and, ultimately, cell death via necrosis or apoptosis (Saatman et al., 1996).

TBI can be classified into three categories based on the immediate effects after the injury: mild, moderate or severe TBI, typically based on the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) (Teasdale and Jennett, 1974). Mild TBI leads to unconsciousness of less than 30 min and GCS of 13 and above, while moderate and severe TBI may result in unconsciousness of more than 30 min, GCS of 9–12 for moderate and below 8 for severe, comatose state and even disability (Teasdale and Jennett, 1974). Although concussion and mTBI have been used interchangeably, it has been suggested that concussion is its own entity, reflecting a brain injury induced by biomechanical forces resulting in the initiation of a complex pathophysiological cascade that, importantly, does not necessarily lead to a loss of consciousness and does not cause abnormalities on standard structural imaging (McCrory et al., 2013).

3. Link between TBI and dementia

A growing body of epidemiological evidence has suggested that TBI may increase the risk of dementia (Mortimer et al., 1991; Guo et al., 2000; Fleminger et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2013; Nordstrom et al., 2014), with suggestions that a dosedependent relationship might exist, in which risk of dementia increases with TBI severity (Plassman et al., 2000). It should be noted, however, that even a single mild TBI may increase longterm dementia risk (Lee et al., 2013). A recent retrospective study by Gardner and colleagues (2014) looked at the link between TBI and dementia development in 164,661 individuals over the age of 55, with a history of TBI or non-brain trauma, over a follow-up period of 5-7 years, and found that prior moderate or severe TBI can increase the risk of dementia with a minimum hazard ratio of 1.3 (Gardner et al., 2014). In accordance with these results, a retrospective study of patients in the National Insurance Database within Taiwan found 2.66% of TBI patients developed dementia compared to 1.53% of non-TBI patients within a 5 year follow-up period, representing a 1.68 fold higher risk (Wang et al., 2012). A previous history of TBI may also lower age of dementia onset, with Nordstrom et al. finding a strong association between TBI and onset of dementia before 65 years of age in a cohort study of Swedish men conscripted for military service, although it should be noted that the number of cases of young onset dementia were quite low (Nordstrom et al., 2014). In accordance with this, age of onset of cognitive impairment in older adults was found to be reduced in those with a past history of TBI compared to those without (Li et al., 2016). Nonetheless, it is important to note that many of these studies are retrospective and thus may be influenced by difficulties with recall and lack of baseline cognitive functioning measurements, and indeed not all studies have reported a link between TBI and later dementia risk (Crane et al., 2016). As such, additional studies and meta-analyses investigating this link are critically needed.

Furthermore, the type of dementia associated with TBI is less clear and may depend on the type of insult involved. Although it remains to be systematically studied, in recent years, there has been growing support for the hypothesis that a single moderate or severe TBI increases the risk of developing late-onset Alzheimer's disease (AD), while repetitive mild TBI is associated with an elevated risk of chronic traumatic encephalopathy (CTE), although the reason behind this has not yet been biologically explained (Smith et al., 2013; Washington et al., 2016). Both AD and CTE share common features in widespread neuronal loss associated with the deposition of tau, but also significant differences as summarized in Table 1. The link between moderate-severe TBI and AD has been supported by two key meta-analyses of case-control studies by Mortimer et al. (1991) and Fleminger et al. (2003), which found significant associations between moderate-severe TBI and AD, reporting pooled odds ratios of 1.82 (95% confidence interval (CI) 1.26-2.67) and 1.58 (95% CI 1.21-2.06), respectively. Conversely, CTE has been linked to a history of repeated concussion, as seen in veterans of military service, professional NFL players and rugby players, amongst others (McKee et al., 2009). Nonetheless, the strongest links are between TBI and dementia, which describes brain atrophy as a result of ongoing neuronal loss with associated cognitive decline, (Faden and Loane, 2015), rather than a specific type like AD or CTE, and may reflect the heterogeneity of the initial impact and its interaction with genetic and lifestyle risk factors. Importantly, TBI is known to drive the accumulation of pathological proteins including tau aggregates (Johnson et al., 2012) that may facilitate the later development of dementia. (Johnson et al., 2012)

Table 1

CUMPANSON OF THE DATIONOVICAL REALTIES AND DESCRITATION OF ALZHEIMELS DISEASE AND CITOTIC TRAUMATIC ENCEDITATIONAL	son of the pathological features and presentation of Alzheimer's Disease and C	Chronic Traumatic Encephalopat	IV.
--	--	--------------------------------	-----

	Alzheimer's disease	Chronic traumatic encephalopathy
Pattern of tau deposition	First observed in the transentorhinal region (stages I and II), spreads to the limbic regions in stages III and IV and then extends uniformly throughout the neocortex. More uniform cortical distribution than seen with CTE, with involvement particularly of layers V and VI of the cortex (Braak and Braak, 1991)	Initially, NFTs are seen in the superficial cortical layers (layers II and III), at the base of sulci and surrounding blood vessels. These NFTs extend through the cerebral cortex, starting with patchy involvement (Stage 1) to widespread pathology affecting most of the cortex (Stage IV), with involvement of other regions such as the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex in later stage disease (Stage III and IV) (Stein et al., 2014)
Amyloid beta plaques	Initially involves the isocortex, spreading to additional allocortical deposits in regions like the hippocampus, then the subcortical nuclei, the upper brainstem and, eventually, the pons (Thal et al., 2002)	Not a consistent feature reported in \sim 50% of cases, with the incidence of neuritic A β plaques increasing with increasing severity of tauopathy (Stein et al., 2015b)
TDP-43	Detected in 25-50% of cases (Wilson et al., 2011)	Abnormal TDP-43 inclusions are a consistent feature of CTE and occur in over one-half of stage I cases and in all of stage IV cases (Stein et al., 2014)
Pattern of brain atrophy	Marked atrophy of the medial temporal lobe, including the hippocampus, entorhinal cortex and amygdala; eventual involvement of other cortical areas, including the parietal and frontal lobes (Probst et al., 1999)	Atrophy is pronounced in the frontal, temporal and medial lobes. Atrophy of white matter, particularly corpus callosum, with thinning of hypothalamic floor (McKee et al., 2016)
Symptoms	Memory loss, disorientation, impaired judgment, loss of motivation, mood and personality changes, increased anxiety (Scheltens et al., 2016)	Memory loss, confusion, impaired judgement, loss of impulse control, aggression, depression, anxiety, suicidality (Stein et al., 2015a)

4. Role of tau in dementia

Tau was first discovered as a microtubule associated protein (MAP) capable of stimulating tubulin assembly in the brain (Weingarten et al., 1975). In recent years, a growing number of studies have recognized the critical role that tau plays in dementia. CTE, for example, is characterized by a unique pattern of abnormally phosphorylated tau (ptau) deposition, with neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) aggregating in the superficial cortical layers of the brain, particularly at the base of the sulci and surrounding blood vessels (McKee et al., 2009). The accumulation of abnormal tau is associated with the eventual development of cerebral atrophy, enlargement of the lateral and third ventricles, thinning of white matter pathways, such as the corpus callosum, scarring of the cerebellum, and degeneration of neurons in areas such as the cerebral cortex (Corsellis et al., 1973).

Conversely, in AD, intracellular NFTs have been shown to preferentially distribute in layers V and VI of the cerebral cortex (Hof et al., 1992). These NFTs, which tend to be smaller than those seen in CTE, spread through the brain following a stereotyped pattern of six stages (Braak and Braak, 1991) Tau pathology in AD has been shown to lead to a disruption of synaptic function (Gomez-Isla et al., 1997; Spires-Jones and Hyman, 2014). Levels of tau, particularly of soluble tau oligomers, are increased early in AD, before NFTs and clinical symptoms appear (van Helmond et al., 2010). Furthermore, tau pathology may correlate better with cognitive impairment than amyloid plaques (Nelson et al., 2012; Rolstad et al., 2015). CSF levels of tau phosphorylated at 231 (ptau₂₃₁) found that levels were higher in patients with mild cognitive impairment, and that increased levels of ptau₂₃₁ were predictive of conversion to AD in patients with mild cognitive impairment (Buerger et al., 2002). Furthermore, an a small study of 22 patients with AD, number of NFTs within the CA1 region of the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex were significantly associated with cognitive status assessed via a mini-mental state exam, whereas AB burden had no additional predictive value beyond its interactions with NFTs (Giannakopoulos et al., 2003). A more recent study by Ossenkoppele and colleagues (2016) reported that tau pathology, as measured by the novel PET tracer ¹⁸F-AV1451, was found predominantly in brain areas that are critical for cognitive functions affected in AD and strongly co-localized with hypo-metabolic regions (Ossenkoppele et al., 2016). In contrast, amyloid- β (A β) pathology, as measured by the PET tracer ¹¹C-PiB PET, was ubiquitously present throughout the brain, in both clinically relevant areas associated with a patient's presentation and non-relevant areas (Ossenkoppele et al., 2016). For example, in patients presenting with predominantly amnestic symptoms, A β was found both within the medial temporal lobe, as would be expected, but also in the frontal cortex, a region not associated with the patient's symptoms (Ossenkoppele et al., 2016). Hence, tau pathology appears to play a significant role in the development of cognitive impairment associated with dementia.

Tau is primarily a neuronal protein encoded by a single gene located on the long arm of chromosome 17 (position 17q21) (Neve et al., 1986). This single gene can result in six major isoforms in the adult human CNS due to alternative splicing of its mRNA (Goedert et al., 1989). Tau contains a microtubule (MT)-binding domain in the carboxy-terminal (C-terminal) of the protein, which is composed of repeats of a highly conserved tubulin-binding motif (Lee et al., 1989). The six isoforms differ from one another in terms of the number of tubulin-binding repeats that they contain in this region (as well as by the presence or absence of one or two 29-amino acid long inserts at the acidic N-terminal region of the protein) (Ballatore et al., 2007). The microtubule-binding domain contains four imperfect repeat domains (31-32 residues each), encoded by exons 9-12. Alternative splicing of exon 10 leads to isoforms with either three (3R) or four (4R) repeats (Andreadis, 2012). While the proportion of isoforms expressed can vary during development, normally, the ratio of 3R to 4R is 1:1 in the adult brain, although this may shift in certain disease states (e.g. frontotemporal dementias (FTDs) (Goedert and Spillantini, 2011).

The normal function of tau is to promote elongation and stabilization of microtubules (MTs), with this dependent on its phosphorylation state. The ability of tau to bind to the MTs is regulated predominantly by phosphorylation at a number of serine/threonine binding sites on either side of the MT-binding domain (Mazanetz and Fischer, 2007). While in a low or non-phosphorylated state, tau stably binds to the microtubule; conversely, ptau has lower affinity for the MTs, leading to it becoming detached (Lindwall and Cole, 1984; Hanger et al., 2009). Tau phosphorylation is complex, as tau contains 80 potential serine/threonine and 5 potential tyrosine sites on its longest isoform (Tau₄₄₁), with phosphorylation occurring at least 30 of them (Mendoza et al., 2013). It is thought that frequent cycles of

binding and detachment of tau from the MTs are needed to allow effective axonal transport (Terwel et al., 2002), which is important for movement of signaling molecules, trophic factors and other essential cellular constituents, including organelles (Ballatore et al., 2007). The phosphorylation state of tau is thus highly dependent on the actions of kinases and phosphatases. Numerous tau kinases have been described, with protein kinase A (PKA), protein kinase C (PKC), glycogen synthetase kinase-3β (GSK-3β), casein-kinase 1 (CK1), the microtubule-affinity-regulating kinase (MARK), mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), calcium/ calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CAMKII) and cyclindependent kinase 5 (CDK5) receiving particular attention (Wang et al., 2013b). While several serine/threonine protein phosphatases (i.e. PP1, cdk2, and cdk5 (Drewes et al., 1992; Baumann et al., 1993; Hanger et al., 2009)), along with PP2A, PP2B and PP5, have all been shown to dephosphorylate tau (Wang et al., 2013b), PP2A appears to be the principal tau phosphatase in vivo, accounting for approximately 70% of human brain phosphatase activity (Liu et al., 2005).

In tauopathies, such as AD and CTE, tau becomes hyperphosphorylated, allowing its abnormal aggregation and leading to toxicity, both due to a loss of its normal function, as well as gain of new pathological functions (Medina et al., 2016). While tau in the healthy brain contains 2-3 mol of phosphate per mole of the protein (Ksiezak-Reding et al., 1992; Kopke et al., 1993), this phosphorylation level is increased 3-4 fold in AD (Kopke et al., 1993). Hyperphosphorylation promotes the detachment of tau from MTs, which destabilizes the MTs, thus inhibiting axonal transport between the soma and synapse, eventually leading to neuronal injury (Bunker et al., 2004). Indeed, treatment with microtubule stabilization drugs has been shown to be beneficial in a number of pre-clinical models of tauopathy (Zhang et al., 2005; Brunden et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2012). For example, treatment with Epothilone D was able to improve microtubule density and axonal integrity, with an associated improvement in spatial memory on the Barnes Maze, in PS19 mice (Zhang et al., 2012). Following detachment from MTs, tau may mislocalize from the axon to the somatodendritic compartment, where it may contribute to synaptic dysfunction (Hoover et al., 2010; Koleske, 2013). As such, one potential causative factor for the link between tau hyperphosphorylation and cognitive impairment may be destabilization of MTs and impaired axonal transport.

Detachment of tau from microtubules also increases the amount of soluble tau present in the neuron, which makes it prone to self-aggregation and polymerization, leading to the formation of tau oligomers (Maeda et al., 2007). These oligomers combine and further aggregate to form paired helical filaments (PHFs), which then assemble to form NFTs, as seen in AD and CTE. Recent evidence suggests that it is tau oligomers, and not NFTs, that are toxic in AD and other neurodegenerative conditions (Lasagna-Reeves et al., 2011, 2012; Maeda et al., 2007; Patterson et al., 2011). Indeed, oligomers of recombinant full-length human tau protein led to synaptic and mitochondrial dysfunction and impaired memory consolidation when injected subcortically in wild-type mice, while tau fibrils and monomers did not result in impairment (Lasagna-Reeves et al., 2011). Evidence also suggests that tau oligomers may act as templates for the misfolding of native tau, thereby seeding the spread of the toxic forms of the protein (Gerson and Kaved, 2013).

It is now well known, from a variety of study models, that tau has the ability to transfer between cells both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Wu et al., 2016). There is strong evidence that this transfer may occur via the release of tau extracellularly from neurons. Tau is present in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and interstitial fluid (ISF) of both tau transgenic mouse lines and AD brains (Kurz et al., 1998; Barten et al., 2011). Additionally, tau has been shown to be released from primary cultures of cortical neurons in response to activity (Pooler et al., 2013). Once tau is released, it can be internalized by neighboring recipient cells, where is can lead to the generation of more pathological tau (Michel et al., 2014; Yamada et al., 2014). Pathological tau can then be passed on to additional recipients, leading to the abnormal propagation of tau throughout the brain (Wu et al., 2016). In support of this, researchers have recently reported the ability of tau oligomers to enter and exit cells, propagating from disease-affected regions to unaffected areas, leading to the spread of pathology throughout the brain (Lasagna-Reeves et al., 2012; Gerson and Kayed, 2013). While the exact mechanisms that may lead to tau release from cells are not yet known, Wu and colleagues (2016) used novel optogenetic and chemogenetic techniques to demonstrate that increasing neuronal activity may enhance tau release and spread (Wu et al., 2016). In an *in vitro* model system, primary neurons from a wild-type mouse transfected with channelrhopsin (ChR2) and fluorescently-tagged hTau expressing viral vectors showed an increase of 250% of tau in the media following 30 min of stimulation with a blue light with a wavelength of 473 nm (Wu et al., 2016). In vivo, stimulation with both an optogenetic (CHR2 depolarization by blue light with a wavelength of 473 nm) and chemogenetic (designer receptor exclusively activated by designer drug, or DREADD) approach resulted in an increase in tau pathology in the stimulated hippocampus or entorhinal cortex compared to the non-stimulated side (Wu et al., 2016). Interestingly, this tau does not form higher aggregates, even when cultured for >20 days, suggesting that the tau that is released is likely to be soluble, and, perhaps, oligomeric (Pooler et al., 2013; Yamada et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2016). The release of tau in response to neuronal activity may be particularly relevant in AD, as cells in the AD brain have been shown to be hyper-excitable (Busche et al., 2008, 2012; Hall et al., 2015). As such, there is emerging evidence to suggest that aggregation of tau into oligomers plays an important role in disease progression, as these tau species are mobile and facilitate spread of disease, while also disrupting synaptic function.

The site at which tau is phosphorylated also appears to be important for its ability to promote disease progression. Certain sites, such as Thr212, Ser214, Thr231, Ser235, and Ser262, are the major sites that inhibit tau binding to microtubules (Alonso et al., 2010). Indeed, an *in vitro* study by Sengupta and colleagues demonstrated that phosphorylation of tau at Ser262, Thr231 and Ser235 inhibited the ability of tau to bind to MTs by 35%, 25% and 10%, respectively (Sengupta et al., 1998). Following the generation of abnormal hyperphosphorylation at the Thr212, Thr231 and Ser262 sites of tau by site-directed mutation, caspase-3 activation and neurodegeneration were triggered, indicating a gain of tau toxicity (Alonso et al., 2010). In a post mortem study in individuals with either mild cognitive impairment (MCI) or AD, high expression of phosphorylation at the Ser422 site was identified as an early disease marker, correlating with degree of cognitive decline and increased degeneration of cholinergic basal forebrain neurons prior to NFT formation (Vana et al., 2011). Different phosphorylation sites also appear to be associated with different aggregation states of tau. For example, while phosphorylation at Thr231 precedes tau oligomerization, increased phosphorylation of Ser202 and Thr205 are related to later changes, such as the conversion to protofilaments and filaments (Lasagna-Reeves et al., 2012 1129). Indeed extracellular NFTs, consisting of a high ratio of filamentous tau, most prominently stain with antibodies to AT8 (pS199/pS202/pT205), AT100 (pT212/pS14) and PHF-1 (pS396/ pS404) (Augustinack et al., 2002).

5. Evidence for alteration in tau dynamics following TBI

The effects of TBI on aberrant tau phosphorylation have been most clearly linked with a history of repeated concussion, due to its role in the development of CTE (McKee et al., 2013; Stein et al., 2014; McKee et al., 2015; Stein et al., 2015a). By definition, CTE is a tauopathy, as it is currently only diagnosed post-mortem and is recognized by a specific pattern of tau deposition, with NFTs, thorned astrocytes and dystrophic neurites deposited perivascularly and concentrated at the base of sulci (Omalu et al., 2005; McKee et al., 2016). In Stage I disease, there is limited, focal hyperphosphorylated tau deposition, mainly in the frontal cortex, whilst Stage IV is characterized by widespread NFT pathology, affecting most regions of the cerebral cortex and medial temporal lobe, accompanied by prominent astrocytic tangles, gliosis and neuronal loss (Stein et al., 2014).

Cumulative exposure to trauma, as in the number of years of engaging in contact sport, rather than the number of concussions, is linked to the severity of tau phosphorylation, suggesting that repetitive head injury encompassing sub-concussive impacts plays a primary role in the development of disease (Huber et al., 2016). CTE has been reported in relation to a number of contact sports, including American football, wrestling, soccer, ice hockey, rugby, as well as poorly controlled epilepsy, head banging behaviors, and military service, suggesting that trauma of diverse origin is capable of instigating CTE (Geddes et al., 1996; Geddes and Whitwell, 2004; Omalu et al., 2006, 2010, 2011; McKee et al., 2013). However, the relative incidence of the disease is not yet known.

Clinical studies on the effects of concussion acutely on tau phosphorylation are rare, with one report finding 4/6 cases who died within 6 months following a concussion positive for NFTs around small blood vessels at the depth of sulci (McKee et al., 2014). Pre-clinical models have demonstrated that repeated injury can lead to aberrant tau phosphorylation (Kane et al., 2012; Luo et al., 2014; Petraglia et al., 2014; Du et al., 2016; McAteer et al., 2016; Tan et al., 2016). For example, a single mTBI increased ptau at 1 month, but not 6 months post-injury, whilst repeated mTBI mice that received six concussive impacts daily for 6 days had a more marked neuroinflammatory response with elevated ptau (AT8) seen in the cortex at 6 months post-injury (Petraglia et al., 2014). This study utilized a model of closed head injury where a tip impacted the skull, which was protected by a metal helmet at a velocity of 5 m/s (Petraglia et al., 2014). Luo et al. also demonstrated diffuse AT8 immunoreactivity 6 months following rmTBI induced by a closed head injury induced by a rubber tip impacting the unprotected skull (3 injuries, 24 h apart) (Luo et al., 2014).

However, an increase in tau phosphorylation has not consistently been reproduced (Mouzon et al., 2012; Mannix et al., 2013; Winston et al., 2016). Mannix et al. noted no increase in ptau (AT8, AT180 or PHF-1) within the cortex or hippocampus at 6 months post-injury, in their model of rmTBI, where mice were subjected to 7 injuries within 9 days utilizing a modified version of the weight drop model with some rotation (Mannix et al., 2013). Lack of accumulation of ptau may be related to the fact that no chronic white matter changes were seen in their model, unlike that seen in human studies (McKee et al., 2014), as white matter damage is thought to be crucial for the development of tauopathy. Mouzon et al. similarly utilized a closed head injury model, but with 5 hits spaced 48 h apart, and also found no difference in levels of cortical or hippocampal ptau (CP13, RZ3, PHF1) at 6 or 12 months post-injury (Mouzon et al., 2012). There are differences in murine and human tau, as murine tau is resistant to the forming of neurotoxic aggregates in vivo (Hanes et al., 2009). Indeed, when the closed head injury model was replicated in aged htau mice, who express human tau, repeat, but not single, injury was associated with a trend towards increased ptau pathology in neuronal cell body and somatodendritic compartments compared to shams (Ojo et al., 2013). It is evident there is complex relationship between repeated concussion and the promotion of tau pathology and the interpretation of pre-clinical models is hampered by the disparities between the number of injuries induced and the spacing between injuries utilized in different studies. Indeed a number of different schedules have been reported, ranging from daily injuries for 5 days (Kane et al., 2012) or 6 days (Petraglia et al., 2014), 3 injuries spaced 24hrs (Luo et al., 2014) or 5 days apart (Tan et al., 2009; McAteer et al., 2016), 5 injuries with 48hr intervals (Mouzon et al., 2014).(Mouzon et al., 2012), or even 10 injuries over 12 days (Kane et al., 2012). As such, further research is needed to clarify how injury schedule influences tau phosphorylation and the relationship to the clinical situation, where much wider spacings between injuries are typically seen.

The link between single injuries and their effect on accumulation of aberrant tau species has received less attention. Early human studies investigating the effects of a single moderate- severe injury utilized antibodies against the late stage NFT marker, PHF-1, and reported positive immunoreactive dystrophic axons within white matter of excised brain tissue (Ikonomovic et al., 2004). However, only 11% of cases showed mis-localization of tau to the neuronal soma/dendrites, and a further 11% of cases had staining suggestive of the development of NFTs (Ikonomovic et al., 2004). Similarly Uryu et al. reported that11% of cases that survived up to one month following injury had evidence of PHF-1 positive immunoreactivity within neurons and glia, whilst Smith et al. found no differences in tau immunoreactivity using a pan-tau marker in acute TBI survivors (Smith et al., 2003a; Uryu et al., 2007). As only a late stage phosphorylation marker was employed, these studies may have missed more subtle increases in tau phosphorylation at early or intermediate sites that may precede the later development of more overt tau pathology. Indeed, in a study of individuals surviving 1-47 years following a single TBI, the presence of widespread NFTs was noted in 34% of long-term TBI survivors, compared to a more focal tau distribution (i.e. entorhinal cortex and hippocampus) in only 9% of those who had not previously experienced a TBI (Johnson et al., 2012). Of note, these NFTs were more likely to be located at the base of the sulci and in the superficial layers (i.e. layer II and the upper third of layer III) of the cortex (Johnson et al., 2012). In pre-clinical studies, an increase in ptau, including tau oligomers, has been reported acutely in the hours to days following either focal or diffuse injury (Tran et al., 2011; Hawkins et al., 2013; Shultz et al., 2015), with only one study looking more chronically, with a persistent diffuse elevation of AT8 immunoreactivity at 6 months following a lateral fluid percussion injury (Hoshino et al., 1998). As such, there is evidence to suggest that even a single more severe injury can be associated with accumulation of pathological tau.

Single blast injuries, have also received recent attention with reports of multifocal perivascular NFTs and glial tau inclusions in the brains of blast-exposed veterans that were similar to those seen in individuals with repeat concussion (Goldstein et al., 2012). Exposure to a blast can cause injury to the brain via a number of different mechanisms, including the shock wave itself, blunt or penetrating trauma and/or the head hitting the ground (Courtney and Courtney, 2015). Notably, recent research has focused on the effects of the shock wave itself, demonstrating that it has similar effects to a concussion. In animal models, a single moderate blast injury significantly increases tau phosphorylation (CP-13, AT8, AT180 A270, AT100) diffusely throughout the brain in regions such as the cortex, hippocampus and cerebellum in the acute stages following the insult (Goldstein et al., 2012; Li et al., 2013; Sawmiller et al., 2014; Perez-Polo et al., 2015), with aberrant tau phosphorylation persisting to 30 days within the hippocampus (Huber et al., 2013). Thus tauopathy may not be a unique feature of repeated injury, but may be a potential complication of TBI in general, including moderate-severe TBI and blast injury.

Of note, the alteration in tau dynamics following TBI may contribute to the secondary injury cascade. Complete ablation or partial reduction of tau prevented deficits in spatial memory and learning on the Barnes Maze, with a decreased latency to the target, after repeated mild frontal impact (Cheng et al., 2014). Furthermore, Gerson and colleagues (2016) demonstrated that injection of TBI-derived tau oligomers into the hippocampi of mice overexpressing hTau decreased the number of spontaneous alteration on the Y-maze, a test of spatial memory (Gerson et al., 2016). Interestingly, injection of these oligomers bilaterally into the hippocampi was capable of increasing levels of tau oligomer expression not just near the hippocampal injection sites in these mice, but also distal to the injection site, in the cerebellum, supporting the hypothesis that tau oligomers may seed the spread of tau neuropathology throughout the brain (Gerson et al., 2016). The ability of tau oligomers to spread is particularly concerning in TBI, given recent evidence that increasing neuronal activity may enhance tau release and spread (Wu et al., 2016), since TBI is known to induce significant long-term neuronal hyperexcitability (Alwis et al., 2016).

6. What causes alternation in tau dynamics following TBI?

Given the evidence that tau is abnormally phosphorylated following TBI and may contribute to later neurodegeneration, it is important to understand how alteration in tau dynamics occurs. Key evidence links axonal injury associated with TBI with tauopathy (Ahmadzadeh et al., 2014) (Fig 1), but less is understood about the role that other injury factors, including the inflammatory response, may play. Diffuse axonal injury is a term applied to TBI-induced scattered destruction of white matter tracts (Adams et al., 1989), occurring not only at the time of injury, but evolving over time. The initiating event is thought to be an alteration in axolemmal permeability involving mechanoporation of the axolemma evoked by the shearing forces of the injury (Pettus et al., 1994; Povlishock and Pettus, 1996; Maxwell et al., 1997). Disruption of the axolemma allows local intra-axonal calcium accumulation, with subsequent activation of various calcium-dependent cysteine protease (calpain) pathways capable of degrading the cytoskeletal network within the axon (Christman et al., 1997).

Calpain-mediated degradation of the cytoskeleton has been shown to occur at sites of axonal damage and disconnection in numerous immunohistochemical studies employing antibodies directed towards its specific proteolytic breakdown products (Buki et al., 1999a,b; Saatman et al., 2003; Serbest et al., 2007). Other members of the cysteine protease family, the caspases, are also thought to be activated within damaged axons (Buki et al., 2000). Although caspases are principally mediators of apoptotic cell death, in severely injured axons, they are thought to participate in the terminal degradation of the cytoskeleton, leading to irreversible collapse of the subaxolemmal membrane skeleton, rather than causing direct apoptotic changes in the soma (Buki and Povlishock, 2006). Cytoskeletal breakdown disrupts axonal transport, causing organelle and vesicular accumulation with resultant axonal swelling and eventual detachment (Smith et al., 2003b).

The high strain placed on axons in TBI means that tau proteins behave more stiffly than usual. This may inhibit the ability of adjacent microtubules to slide past each other in response to axonal stretching, resulting in the subsequent rupture (Ahmadzadeh et al., 2014). As tau becomes unbound from the microtubule, it facilitates phosphorylation at disease related sites (Ballatore et al., 2007; Planel et al., 2008; Feuillette et al., 2010; Miyasaka et al., 2010), and promotes aggregation into oligomers and NFTs (Perez et al., 2007; Thies and Mandelkow, 2007; Fischer et al., 2009). The mechanical forces at the point of injury, allow tau to become detached from the microtubule, facilitating its phosphorylation and aggregation (Abisambra and Scheff, 2014). Notably NFTs



Fig. 1. Axonal injury following TBI may promote alteration in tau dynamics by promoting the detachment of tau from the microtubule, facilitating its phosphorylation and aggregation.

seen in CTE (McKee et al., 2013) and following a single moderatesevere TBI (Johnson et al., 2012) are typically at the base of the sulci, which is significant given that the forces associated with TBI are focused in this area (Cloots et al., 2008). Once generated, abnormal tau can then be secreted into the extracellular space, allowing the spread of pathological tau between neurons and propagating disease progression (Medina and Avila, 2014).

Although axonal injury may precipitate acute changes in tau phosphorylation, it is likely that other factors may also play a role. Of particular interest is the inflammatory response, given that it can persist for decades after the initial insult, and has been shown to play a role in accelerating disease progression in other tauopathies.

6.1. Persistent Inflammation Following TBI

A robust neuroinflammatory response develops acutely post-TBI, and is characterized by activation of resident cells, migration and recruitment of leukocytes and the release of inflammatory mediators (Ziebell and Morganti-Kossmann, 2010). Inflammation after TBI is triggered by several factors, including tissue debris and intracellular components that act as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), as well as extravasated blood products, complement fragments and reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (Manson et al., 2012; Woodcock and Morganti-Kossmann, 2013; Corps et al., 2015). The inflammatory response is characterized by a rapid rise in the levels of cytokines and chemokines. For example, following a moderate diffuse TBI in mice, levels of IL-1 β , TNF α and IL-6 within the cortex peak at 3–9 h, before gradually subsiding (Bachstetter et al., 2013). Similarly, within human studies, examining levels of cytokines and chemokines within the CSF following moderate-severe TBI found increased levels of IL-6, TNFa, IL-10, CCL2 and IL-8 which peak within the first 24-48 h after TBI and then decrease over several weeks (Morganti-Kossman et al., 1997; Csuka et al., 1999; Semple et al., 2010). This acute inflammatory response has predictive value for outcome following injury, with Kumar et al. finding that individuals with high levels of IL-6 within the CSF in the week following injury had worsened outcome at 6 months post-injury (as measured by Glasgow Outcome Score) compared to those that had low levels of this cytokine (Kumar et al., 2015c)

The cellular response to injury differs slightly depending on whether the initiating insult is primarily focal or diffuse in nature. A focal injury is characterized by the early infiltration of neutrophils (peaking within a few days) (Soares et al., 1995; Holmin et al., 1998), followed by the migration of macrophages and lymphocytes, with activation and movement towards to the site of injury of resident microglia and astrocytes (Holmin et al., 1998). The acute phase of the inflammatory reaction appears to be mostly resolved by 10 days post-injury (Gyoneva and Ransohoff, 2015). In contrast, in diffuse injury, little to no neutrophil infiltration is seen, and early on macrophage and microglial accumulation and astrocytosis are most prominent in the white matter tracts, with the highest numbers at 14 days post-injury, the latest time-point investigated within the study (Hellewell et al., 2010). Even mild TBI is associated with induction of an inflammatory response, which is amplified with repeated injury. Using a model of diffuse mTBI in pigs, Lafrenave et al. were able to demonstrate enhanced microglial activation associated with thalamic axonal injury at 6 h post-injury (Lafrenave et al., 2015). In rats, a model of repeated concussion utilizing the lateral fluid percussion model showed an increase in activated microglia/macrophages at 24 h post-injury in the single injury group compared to shams, but almost 3x higher numbers again in groups receiving multiple injuries (Shultz et al., 2012).

Both microglia and astrocytes can serve a neuroprotective role immediately following injury by cleaning up damaged cell debris by phagocytosis, releasing anti-inflammatory cytokines and neurotrophic factors, (Lull and Block, 2010; Luo and Chen, 2012; Corps et al., 2015). Indeed, activated microglia demonstrate phenotypic subpopulations, characterized by a specific molecular signature of gene: M1 microglia, promote a classic pro-inflammatory state, releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines and oxidative metabolites, whilst M2 microglia are important for tissue remodeling and suppress the inflammatory response (Colton, 2009; David and Kroner, 2011). However, it is thought that prolonged M1-like activation hampers repair and can allow tissue damage to persist for years after the initial injury, with a hypothesis that, in a subset of TBI patients, there is incomplete resolution of the acute neuroinflammatory response (Bigler, 2013). Indeed, Kumar et al. showed that, following a CCI model of TBI, both M1 and M2 phenotypic markers were present early after TBI, but a predominant M1 phenotype was seen by 7 days post-injury (Kumar et al., 2015a). In support of this. Wang et al. also reported that both M1 and M2 microglia were seen in the cortex, striatum and corpus callosum within the first week following injury, with M2 microglia peaking at 5 days and then rapidly decreasing, whereas M1 microglia persisted at high levels up to two weeks following injury (Wang et al., 2013a). This suggests that a vicious cycle is initiated following the original insult, where release of pro-inflammatory factors by resident glial cells promotes further glial activation, leading to a progressive, chronic cycle of neuroinflammation (Lozano et al., 2015), which can have neurotoxic effects on neurons through mechanisms such as oxidative stress, apoptosis and excitotoxicity (Faden et al., 2016).

Multiple studies have demonstrated that a neuroinflammatory response may persist following resolution of the acute effects of a TBI, with inflammation markers present in the brain parenchyma, serum and cerebrospinal fluid of TBI patients at chronic time points (Smith et al., 2013). For example, Kumar and colleagues (2015b) found that levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1β, IL-6 and TFNa, were still elevated within serum at 3 months post-injury (Kumar et al., 2015b). In rodents, microglial activation has been demonstrated up to one-year following a focal TBI, with associated progressive lesion expansion, hippocampal degeneration, myelin loss and oxidative stress (Loane et al., 2014). In humans, reactive microglia have been found in brain tissue up to 18 years survival following single, moderate-to-severe TBI (Johnson et al., 2013). In models of repeated concussion, persistent inflammation, as characterized by microglial and astrocytic activation, has been demonstrated up to 12 months post-injury (Mouzon et al., 2014). The response is greatly amplified compared to animals receiving a single injury, with Aungst et al. finding that repeated, but not a single, mTBI was associated with microglial activation within the hippocampus at 1 month post-injury (Aungst et al., 2014). Indeed, it has been suggested that repeated concussion simulates a similar response to that seen following a single moderate insult, in terms of the levels of neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration (Faden et al., 2016).

Although the majority of studies investigating the chronic neuroinflammatory response following TBI have relied on postmortem analysis, Ramlackhansingh et al. conducted a small clinical study evaluating the neuroinflammatory response to moderate to severe TBI *in vivo*. Positron emission tomography was used to demonstrate microglial activation persisting up to 17 years postinjury in multiple brain regions, including the thalami, putamen, occipital cortices, and posterior limb of the internal capsule. Even concussion, particularly repeated concussion, can have longlasting inflammatory consequences, with retired National Football League players found to have increased microglial activation in the supramarginal gyrus and right amygdala compared to age matched healthy controls (Coughlin et al., 2015). Over time, these persistently elevated levels of reactive glial cells post-TBI may result in increased release of cytokines, chemokines and other neurotoxic chemicals, which promote dementia development, along with the accumulation of pathological proteins, like tau (Zindler and Zipp, 2010).

This persistent inflammatory state induced following TBI may also be seen as an exaggerated neuroinflammatory response to other stimuli due to the phenomenon of microglial priming (Witcher et al., 2015). Microglial priming is seen as a higher baseline expression of inflammatory mediators, a lower threshold of activation and an exaggerated response following activation (Norden et al., 2015). These primed microglia can be identified by the increased expression of markers such as MHCII and CD68, with increased MHCII seen chronically following TBI (Johnson et al., 2013; Fenn et al., 2014; Loane et al., 2014; Muccigrosso et al., 2016). Furthermore, this phenomenon of priming has been demonstrated with an exaggerated neuroinflammatory response to a peripheral inflammatory stimulus (injection of lipopolysaccharide) seen at 1 month following a mild diffuse injury. TBI animals showed hyper-reactive microglial morphological profiles with an associated increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1B, CCL2, and TNFa, which led to an exacerbation of depressive-like behavior and impaired cognition (Fenn et al., 2014; Muccigrosso et al., 2016). Microglial priming may also play a role in repeated concussion, with the first concussion priming microglia to respond in an amplified manner to subsequent injuries. Of note the time interval between injuries may influence this microglial priming with Weil et al. demonstrating that two closed-head injuries spaced 3 days apart, but not 20 days apart, was associated with increased inflammation and worsening of axonal injury (Weil et al., 2014). Further investigation is needed to elucidate the role of microglial priming and the influence of the exaggerated response to other pro-inflammatory stimuli following both single and repeat injury in the development of a persistent neuroinflammatory state.

7. Role of the immune system in promoting tau phosphorylation

Extensive evidence suggests that the immune system can influence tau phosphorylation (Fig 2). Both acute and chronic activation of the innate immune system, via administration of lipopolysaccharide (LPS), have been shown to exacerbate tau phosphorylation and pathology in murine models of AD and other tauopathies (Li et al., 2003; Kitazawa et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2010; Sy et al., 2011). Further, in mice with a knockout of the neuronal chemokine CX3CL1 (fractakline) receptor, which suppresses microglial activation, there was an exaggerated neuroinflammatory response to LPS administration, as well as enhanced tau phosphorylation at the AT8 site (Bhaskar et al., 2010). When CX3CR1 knockout mice were crossed with an hTau model of tauopathy, the double transgenic mice also demonstrated accelerated tau phosphorylation (AT8, AT180 and PHF-1) and aggregation, which was associated with enhanced neuroinflammation (Bhaskar et al., 2010). Immune suppression has also been shown to be effective in models of tauopathy, with administration of the immunosuppressant FK506 to P3105 Tg mice increasing survival with an associated reduction in AT8 immunohistochemical staining (Yoshiyama et al., 2007).

The exact mechanisms whereby activation of the immune system promotes tau phosphorylation are yet to be fully elucidated, with the role of IL-1 β receiving the greatest levels of scrutiny. Implantation of a slow release IL-1ß pellet in the brain increased phosphorylation of tau (PHF-1) (Sheng et al., 2000), whilst application of IL-1β to neuronal-microglial co-cultures led to increases in ptau at the AT8 phosphorylation site (Li et al., 2003). Indeed, the aforementioned LPS-induced increase in tau phosphorylation appears to be mediated by IL-1 β , as levels of IL-1 β , but not IL-6 and TNFa, were elevated following chronic intermittent administration of LPS to 3Tg-Ad mice (Kitazawa et al., 2005). Indeed, IL-1 β can accelerate tau deposition in tauopathy models. When 3xTgAD mice were crossed to IL-1^{βXAT} mice, allowing specific activation of human IL-1 β expression within the hippocampus to be induced from 15 months of age, it enhanced tau phosphorylation at a number of sites, including pT205, AT180 and PHF1 (Ghosh et al., 2013). Inhibition of IL-1 via chronic administration of IL-1R for 6 months from 9 months of age in 3xTg-Ad mice significantly reduced the number of ptau-bearing neurons, as detected via AT8, AT100, and PHF-1, with an associated improvement of cognitive deficits (Kitazawa et al., 2011).

The role of other pro-inflammatory mediators on influencing tau phosphorylation is less clear. Application of $TNF\alpha$ *in vitro* to



Persistent inflammation and tau phosphorylation following TBI

Fig. 2. The role of the immune system in promoting altered tau dynamics following TBI. Persistent activation of astrocytes and microglia, with the resultant release of inflammatory cytokines like IL-1β, activates kinases that promote hyperphosphorylation of tau that can then aggregate into oligomers and, eventually, NFTs characteristic of tauopathies, such as AD and CTE.

neuronal-microglial co-cultures had no effect on levels of tau phosphorylation, as measured by AT8 levels (Li et al., 2003). However, treatment with the TNF α antagonist, inflixamib, reduced levels of pThr181 tau in 12-month-old APP/PS1 mice (Shi et al., 2011). This may not reflect the actions of TNF α directly, but rather an overall reduction in levels of inflammation, including levels of IL-1β. Similarly disparate results have been reported with IL-6, with both a Cdk5 dependent enhancement of tau phosphorylation (Quintanilla et al., 2004) and no effect on tau phosphorylation (Hull et al., 1999) reported following application of IL-6 to hippocampal cultures. Intriguingly, it has been suggested that activation of toll-like receptor 4, via LPS, may even influence tau phosphorylation independent of pro-inflammatory signaling. Despite knockout of 5LO (arachidonate 5-lipoxygenase) reducing levels of microglial and astrocytic activation with a corresponding decrease in IL-1 β and IFN- γ , chronic LPS administration was still able to enhance levels of ptau in 3xTgAd mice in a similar manner to mice with 5LO (Joshi et al., 2014). Thus, further investigation is needed to determine the exact interaction between immune system signaling and activation of tau phosphorylation kinases.

Of note, the pattern of kinase activation appears to be dependent on the length and magnitude of immune stimulation, as well as the age and, hence the level, of pre-existing tau pathology. Following chronic administration of LPS to young pre-pathological 3xTg AD mice, Cdk5 activity (Kitazawa et al., 2005; Joshi et al., 2014), but not GSK-3β, p38-MAPK or JNK, was increased (Kitazawa et al., 2005). Indeed, administration of the Cdk5 antagonist roscovitine abolished the LPS-mediated effects on tau phosphorylation (Kitazawa et al., 2005). In contrast, in aged 3xTgAd mice, chronic administration of LPS led to enhanced tau phosphorylation and increased levels of insoluble tau were related to activation of GSKβ, but not Cdk5 (Boden and Fergusson, 2011). These findings are in line with previous reports that GSK-3^β becomes the primary modulator of tau phosphorylation as mice age (Hooper et al., 2008). Indeed, in older mice, with established tau pathology, prolonged overexpression of IL-1 was associated with enhanced GSK3B activity, with enhanced p38-MAPK activity also noted (Ghosh et al., 2013), supporting previous reports indicating a role for p38 MAPK as a mediator of IL-1 β induced tau phosphorylation (Li et al., 2003; Bhaskar et al., 2010).

It should be noted that activation of the immune system alone does not appear to be sufficient for persistent alterations in tau phosphorylation. In response to an acute systemic inflammatory response induced by administration of high-dose LPS to naïve mice, a rapid increase in levels of ptau (AT8 and PHF-1) was noted within the hippocampus, but this abated within 2 h (Roe et al., 2011). Direct activation via intracerebral injection appears to last slightly longer, with enhanced tau phosphorylation seen in naïve mice at 1 day (Sy et al., 2011), but not at 7 days (Lee et al., 2010). In contrast, rTg4510 mice, which express human tau with the P301 mutation linked to familial frontotemporal dementia, have persistent elevations of ptau at 7 days post LPS injection (Lee et al., 2010). Similarly, following a viral CNS infection, aged 3xTgAd mice, but not wildtype mice, demonstrated a persistent elevation in tau phosphorylation at 2 and 4 weeks post-(Sy et al., 2011). Thus, altered immune signaling may accelerate disease progression where there is a pre-existing alteration in tau phosphorylation, but is insufficient to produce tauopathy alone. In TBI, the pre-existing alteration appears to be primarily caused by the initial axonal injury, providing a setting whereby chronic persistent inflammation may drive disease progression, predisposing to later neurodegeneration.

8. Could targeting inflammation prevent the aggregation of tau and the subsequent development of dementia following TBI?

Given the long latency period between the initial injury and the later development of dementia, there is an opportunity for therapeutic intervention. One potential avenue may be targeting the immune response, with evidence from studies in AD suggesting that anti-inflammatory treatments may be effective in the early stages of the disease (Morris et al., 2014)

Perhaps the best-characterized target of inflammatory pathways in AD is the use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), drugs that are widely used and frequently prescribed as analgesics and antipyretics. NSAIDs are known to block the cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes COX-1 and COX-2, inhibiting the production of prostaglandins and thromboxane. A variety of epidemiological evidence has supported the use of NSAIDs to prevent the development of AD (McGeer et al., 1996; in t' Veld et al., 2001; Deardorff and Grossberg, 2016). It should be noted however, that timing is crucial, with administration during the extended preclinical phase in the years or decades before onset of cognitive decline optimal (Woodling et al., 2016), as NSAIDs may actually adversely affect AD pathogenesis when given just prior to, or at the onset of, clinical symptoms (Imbimbo et al., 2010), due to potentially beneficial actions of microglia in removing AB plaques (Lee and Landreth, 2010).

The rationale for why modifying the immune system may prevent the development of AD are yet to be fully elucidated. However, there is evidence to suggest that alteration in tau dynamics may also be involved. Treatment with the anti-inflammatory minocycline for two weeks was associated with a reduction in tau phosphorylation at Ser-202 and Ser396/404 in young htau mice, as well as a reduction in the amount of insoluble tau (Noble et al., 2009). The effect of minocycline was linked to a reduction in astrocytosis within the cortex, as well as a reduction in levels of a number of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as GM-CSF, eotaxin, MCP-1 and IL-6 (Garwood et al., 2010). Of note, a short period of minocycline treatment was less effective at 12 months of age when htau mice have existing NFT pathology, as minocycline was only able to reduce levels of tau aggregation, but not its phosphorylation (Noble et al., 2009). Furthermore, a more prolonged treatment of minocycline from 8 months of ages in the 3xTgAD mouse model found that, despite a reduction in astrocytosis, there were no differences in tau phosphorylated at the AT8, AT180 or AT270 sites, an increase in PHF-1 tau, but a reduction in AT100, as detected via western blot (Parachikova et al., 2010). Both PHF-1 and AT100 stain ptau that is found predominantly in NFTs, so the opposing changes seen in the Parchikova study may not lead to any differences in the level of tau aggregation (Augustinack et al., 2002). Thus, it appears anti-inflammatory treatment is more effective when given early in the disease. Indeed, prolonged prophylactic treatment with ibuprofen for 5 months in 3xTgAd mice led to a significant reduction in levels of ptau, as well as intraneuronal A β within the hippocampus at 6 months of age (McKee et al., 2008). It was initially proposed that the effect of NSAIDs was predominantly due to the role that NSAIDs have on γ -secretase modulation, which reduce levels of Aβ production (Weggen et al., 2001) However, a follow-up study utilizing the R-flurbiprofen, (Morihara et al., 2002) found that a 2 month period of treatment in young 3xTgAd mice actually reduced pathological levels of tau hyperphosphorylation, without significantly affecting the level of A β (Carreras et al., 2013). This reduction in levels of ptau was associated with an improvement in cognition on the radial arm maze, indicating the role of altered tau phosphorylation in promoting functional deficits (Carreras et al., 2013).

9. Future directions

Given the complexity of the neuroinflammatory response following TBI, it is likely that effective inflammation-based treatments for the prevention of abnormal tau and its associated effects on cognition will need to target specific aspects of the inflammatory response, rather than global inflammation, as is achieved with NSAID or minocycline administration. Furthermore, timing of administration post-TBI will be crucial, as the inflammatory response is important for repair in the immediate aftermath after injury. Indeed, long-term ibuprofen treatment initiated immediately after a fluid-percussion injury in rats worsened cognitive outcome at 4 months post-injury (Browne et al., 2006). Despite this, given the extended period of time between TBI occurrence and the emergence of dementia, targeting inflammation in the sub-chronic stage following TBI may be a highly effective strategy for preventing the later emergence of dementia. Future studies will need to more closely examine the inflammatory response following TBI, particularly the role of spacing and number of injuries in repetitive injury models, and the association with tau phosphorylation and aggregation to determine the optimal inflammatory pathways to target and when treatment may be most effective.

10. Conclusion

Extensive evidence over the last 25 years has suggested that sustaining a TBI may predispose to the later development of dementia. The exact mechanism that drives the connection between these two conditions has yet to be fully determined, and is likely complex. However, given the long latency between the initial TBI and later dementia, an opportunity exists for timely treatment. Importantly, given that pre-clinical research has suggested that treatment is most effective prior to the appearance of symptoms, this particular population would prove ideal for therapeutic intervention. Of interest, TBI is known to promote pathological accumulation of proteins, with the role of tau in promoting neurodegeneration becoming increasingly evident. Alteration in tau dynamics has been shown both acutely and chronically following TBI, and may be driven by the effects of the initial axonal injury exacerbated by a persistent inflammatory response. As such, timely intervention that modulates the immune response may prevent the hyperphosphorylation and subsequent aggregation of tau and reduce the risk of going on to develop dementia.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by a grant from the Neurosurgical Research Foundation.

References

- Abisambra, J.F., Scheff, S., 2014. Brain injury in the context of tauopathies. J. Alzheimers Dis. 40, 495–518.
- Abou-Hamden, A., Blumbergs, P.C., Scott, G., Manavis, J., Wainwright, H., Jones, N., McLean, J., 1997. Axonal injury in falls. J. Neurotrauma 14, 699–713.
- Adams, J.H., Doyle, D., Ford, I., Gennarelli, T.A., Graham, D.I., McLellan, D.R., 1989. Diffuse axonal injury in head injury: definition, diagnosis and grading. Histopathology 15, 49–59.
- Ahmadzadeh, H., Smith, D.H., Shenoy, V.B., 2014. Viscoelasticity of tau proteins leads to strain rate-dependent breaking of microtubules during axonal stretch injury: predictions from a mathematical model. Biophys. J. 106, 1123–1133.
- Alonso, A.D., Di Clerico, J., Li, B., Corbo, C.P., Alaniz, M.E., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., 2010. Phosphorylation of tau at Thr212, Thr231, and Ser262 combined causes neurodegeneration. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 30851–30860.
- Alwis, D.S., Yan, E.B., Johnstone, V., Carron, S., Hellewell, S., Morganti-Kossmann, M. C., Rajan, R., 2016. Environmental enrichment attenuates traumatic brain injury: induced neuronal hyperexcitability in supragranular layers of sensory cortex. J. Neurotrauma 33, 1084–1101.
- Andreadis, A., 2012. Tau splicing and the intricacies of dementia. J. Cell Physiol. 227, 1220–1225.

- Augustinack, J.C., Schneider, A., Mandelkow, E.M., Hyman, B.T., 2002. Specific tau phosphorylation sites correlate with severity of neuronal cytopathology in Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 103, 26–35.
- Aungst, S.L., Kabadi, S.V., Thompson, S.M., Stoica, B.A., Faden, A.I., 2014. Repeated mild traumatic brain injury causes chronic neuroinflammation, changes in hippocampal synaptic plasticity, and associated cognitive deficits. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 34, 1223–1232.
- Bachstetter, A.D., Rowe, R.K., Kaneko, M., Goulding, D., Lifshitz, J., Van Eldik, L.J., 2013. The p38alpha MAPK regulates microglial responsiveness to diffuse traumatic brain injury. J. Neurosci. 33, 6143–6153.
- Ballatore, C., Lee, V.M., Trojanowski, J.Q., 2007. Tau-mediated neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease and related disorders. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 8, 663–672.
- Barten, D.M., Cadelina, G.W., Hoque, N., DeCarr, L.B., Guss, V.L., Yang, L., Sankaranarayanan, S., Wes, P.D., Flynn, M.E., Meredith, J.E., Ahlijanian, M.K., Albright, C.F., 2011. Tau transgenic mice as models for cerebrospinal fluid tau biomarkers. J. Alzheimers Dis. 24 (Suppl. 2), 127–141.
- Baumann, K., Mandelkow, E.M., Biernat, J., Piwnica-Worms, H., Mandelkow, E., 1993. Abnormal Alzheimer-like phosphorylation of tau-protein by cyclindependent kinases cdk2 and cdk5. FEBS Lett. 336, 417–424.
- Bhaskar, K., Konerth, M., Kokiko-Cochran, O.N., Cardona, A., Ransohoff, R.M., Lamb, B.T., 2010. Regulation of tau pathology by the microglial fractalkine receptor. Neuron 68, 19–31.
- Bigler, E.D., 2013. Neuroinflammation and the dynamic lesion in traumatic brain injury. Brain 136, 9–11.
- Boden, J.M., Fergusson, D.M., 2011. Alcohol and depression. Addiction 106, 906–914.Braak, H., Braak, E., 1991. Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. Acta Neuropathol. 82, 239–259.
- Browne, K.D., Iwata, A., Putt, M.E., Smith, D.H., 2006. Chronic ibuprofen administration worsens cognitive outcome following traumatic brain injury in rats. Exp. Neurol. 201, 301–307.
- Brunden, K.R., Zhang, B., Carroll, J., Yao, Y., Potuzak, J.S., Hogan, A.M., Iba, M., James, M.J., Xie, S.X., Ballatore, C., Smith 3rd, A.B., Lee, V.M., Trojanowski, J.Q., 2010. Epothilone D improves microtubule density, axonal integrity, and cognition in a transgenic mouse model of tauopathy. J. Neurosci. 30, 13861–13866.
- Buerger, K., Teipel, S.J., Zinkowski, R., Blennow, K., Arai, H., Engel, R., Hofmann-Kiefer, K., McCulloch, C., Ptok, U., Heun, R., Andreasen, N., DeBernardis, J., Kerkman, D., Moeller, H., Davies, P., Hampel, H., 2002. CSF tau protein phosphorylated at threonine 231 correlates with cognitive decline in MCI subjects. Neurology 59, 627–629.
- Buki, A., Povlishock, J.T., 2006. All roads lead to disconnection?-Traumatic axonal injury revisited. Acta Neurochir. (Wien) 148, 181–193. discussion 193–184.
- Buki, A., Koizumi, H., Povlishock, J.T., 1999a. Moderate posttraumatic hypothermia decreases early calpain-mediated proteolysis and concomitant cytoskeletal compromise in traumatic axonal injury. Exp. Neurol. 159, 319–328.
 Buki, A., Okonkwo, D.O., Povlishock, J.T., 1999b. Postinjury cyclosporin A
- Buki, A., Okonkwo, D.O., Povlishock, J.T., 1999b. Postinjury cyclosporin A administration limits axonal damage and disconnection in traumatic brain injury. J. Neurotrauma 16, 511–521.
- Buki, A., Okonkwo, D.O., Wang, K.K., Povlishock, J.T., 2000. Cytochrome c release and caspase activation in traumatic axonal injury. J. Neurosci. 20, 2825– 2834.
- Bunker, J.M., Wilson, L., Jordan, M.A., Feinstein, S.C., 2004. Modulation of microtubule dynamics by tau in living cells: implications for development and neurodegeneration. Mol. Biol. Cell 15, 2720–2728.
- Busche, M.A., Eichhoff, G., Adelsberger, H., Abramowski, D., Wiederhold, K.H., Haass, C., Staufenbiel, M., Konnerth, A., Garaschuk, O., 2008. Clusters of hyperactive neurons near amyloid plaques in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Science 321, 1686–1689.
- Busche, M.A., Chen, X., Henning, H.A., Reichwald, J., Staufenbiel, M., Sakmann, B., Konnerth, A., 2012. Critical role of soluble amyloid-beta for early hippocampal hyperactivity in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 109, 8740–8745.
- Carreras, I., McKee, A.C., Choi, J.K., Aytan, N., Kowall, N.W., Jenkins, B.G., Dedeoglu, A., 2013. R-flurbiprofen improves tau, but not Ass pathology in a triple transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res. 1541, 115–127.
- Cheng, J.S., Craft, R., Yu, G.Q., Ho, K., Wang, X., Mohan, G., Mangnitsky, S., Ponnusamy, R., Mucke, L., 2014. Tau reduction diminishes spatial learning and memory deficits after mild repetitive traumatic brain injury in mice. PLoS One 9, e115765.
- Christman, C.W., Salvant Jr., J.B., Walker, S.A., Povlishock, J.T., 1997. Characterization of a prolonged regenerative attempt by diffusely injured axons following traumatic brain injury in adult cat: a light and electron microscopic immunocytochemical study. Acta Neuropathol. 94, 329–337.
- Cloots, R.J., Gervaise, H.M., van Dommelen, J.A., Geers, M.G., 2008. Biomechanics of traumatic brain injury: influences of the morphologic heterogeneities of the cerebral cortex. Ann. Biomed. Eng. 36, 1203–1215.
- Colton, C.A., 2009. Heterogeneity of microglial activation in the innate immune response in the brain. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 4, 399–418.
- Corps, K.N., Roth, T.L., McGavern, D.B., 2015. Inflammation and neuroprotection in traumatic brain injury. JAMA Neurol. 72, 355–362.
- Corsellis, J.A., Bruton, C.J., Freeman-Browne, D., 1973. The aftermath of boxing. Psychol. Med. 3, 270–303.
- Coughlin, J.M., Wang, Y., Munro, C.A., Ma, S., Yue, C., Chen, S., Airan, R., Kim, P.K., Adams, A.V., Garcia, C., Higgs, C., Sair, H.I., Sawa, A., Smith, G., Lyketsos, C.G., Caffo, B., Kassiou, M., Guilarte, T.R., Pomper, M.G., 2015. Neuroinflammation and brain atrophy in former NFL players: an in vivo multimodal imaging pilot study. Neurobiol. Dis. 74, 58–65.

- Courtney, A., Courtney, M., 2015. The complexity of biomechanics causing primary blast-induced traumatic brain injury: a review of potential mechanisms. Front. Neurol. 6, 221.
- Crane, P.K., Gibbons, L.E., Dams-O'Connor, K., Trittschuh, E., Leverenz, J.B., Keene, C. D., Sonnen, J., Montine, T.J., Bennett, D.A., Leurgans, S., Schneider, J.A., Larson, E. B., 2016. Association of traumatic brain injury with late-life neurodegenerative conditions and neuropathologic findings. JAMA Neurol.
- Csuka, E., Morganti-Kossmann, M.C., Lenzlinger, P.M., Joller, H., Trentz, O., Kossmann, T., 1999. IL-10 levels in cerebrospinal fluid and serum of patients with severe traumatic brain injury: relationship to IL-6, TNF-alpha, TGF-beta1 and blood-brain barrier function. J. Neuroimmunol. 101, 211–221.
- David, S., Kroner, A., 2011. Repertoire of microglial and macrophage responses after spinal cord injury. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 12, 388–399.
- Deardorff, W.J., Grossberg, G.T., 2016. Targeting neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease: evidence for NSAIDs and novel therapeutics. Expert Rev. Neurother., 1–16
- Drewes, G., Lichtenberg-Kraag, B., Doring, F., Mandelkow, E.M., Biernat, J., Goris, J., Doree, M., Mandelkow, E., 1992. Mitogen activated protein (MAP) kinase transforms tau protein into an Alzheimer-like state. EMBO J. 11, 2131–2138.
- Du, X., West, M.B., Cheng, W., Ewert, D.L., Li, W., Saunders, D., Towner, R.A., Floyd, R. A., Kopke, R.D., 2016. Ameliorative effects of antioxidants on the hippocampal accumulation of pathologic tau in a rat model of blast-induced traumatic brain injury. Oxid. Med. Cell Longev. 2016, 4159357.
- Faden, A.I., Loane, D.J., 2015. Chronic neurodegeneration after traumatic brain injury: Alzheimer disease, chronic traumatic encephalopathy, or persistent neuroinflammation? Neurotherapeutics 12, 143–150.
- Faden, A.I., Wu, J., Stoica, B.A., Loane, D.J., 2016. Progressive inflammation-mediated neurodegeneration after traumatic brain or spinal cord injury. Br. J. Pharmacol. 173, 681–691.
- Feigin, V.L., Theadom, A., Barker-Collo, S., Starkey, N.J., McPherson, K., Kahan, M., Dowell, A., Brown, P., Parag, V., Kydd, R., Jones, K., Jones, A., Ameratunga, S., Group, B.S., 2013. Incidence of traumatic brain injury in New Zealand: a population-based study. Lancet Neurol. 12, 53–64.
- Fenn, A.M., Gensel, J.C., Huang, Y., Popovich, P.G., Lifshitz, J., Godbout, J.P., 2014. Immune activation promotes depression 1 month after diffuse brain injury: a role for primed microglia. Biol. Psychiatry 76, 575–584.
- Feuillette, S., Miguel, L., Frebourg, T., Campion, D., Lecourtois, M., 2010. Drosophila models of human tauopathies indicate that Tau protein toxicity in vivo is mediated by soluble cytosolic phosphorylated forms of the protein. J. Neurochem. 113, 895–903.
- Finnie, J.W., Blumbergs, P.C., 2002. Traumatic brain injury. Vet. Pathol. 39, 679–689.
- Fischer, D., Mukrasch, M.D., Biernat, J., Bibow, S., Blackledge, M., Griesinger, C., Mandelkow, E., Zweckstetter, M., 2009. Conformational changes specific for pseudophosphorylation at serine 262 selectively impair binding of tau to microtubules. Biochemistry 48, 10047–10055.
- Fleminger, S., Oliver, D.L., Lovestone, S., Rabe-Hesketh, S., Giora, A., 2003. Head injury as a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease: the evidence 10 years on; a partial replication. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 74, 857–862.
 Frieden, T.R., Houry, D., Baldwin, G. 2014. Report to congress on traumatic brain
- Frieden, T.R., Houry, D., Baldwin, G. 2014. Report to congress on traumatic brain injury in the United States: epidemiology and rehabilitation. Center of Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), Atlanta, GA.
- Gardner, R.C., Burke, J.F., Nettiksimmons, J., Kaup, A., Barnes, D.E., Yaffe, K., 2014. Dementia risk after traumatic brain injury vs nonbrain trauma: the role of age and severity. JAMA Neurol. 71, 1490–1497.
- Garwood, C.J., Cooper, J.D., Hanger, D.P., Noble, W., 2010. Anti-inflammatory impact of minocycline in a mouse model of tauopathy. Front. Psychiatry 1, 136.
- Geddes, J.F., Whitwell, H.L., 2004. Inflicted head injury in infants. Forensic Sci. Int. 146, 83-88.
- Geddes, J.F., Vowles, G.H., Robinson, S.F., Sutcliffe, J.C., 1996. Neurofibrillary tangles, but not Alzheimer-type pathology, in a young boxer. Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol. 22, 12–16.
- Gerson, J.E., Kayed, R., 2013. Formation and propagation of tau oligomeric seeds. Front. Neurol. 4, 93.
- Gerson, J.E., Castillo-Carranza, D.L., Sengupta, U., Bodani, R., Prough, D.S., DeWitt, D., Hawkins, B.E., Kayed, R., 2016. Tau oligomers derived from Traumatic Brain Injury cause cognitive impairment and accelerate onset of pathology in Htau mice. J. Neurotrauma.
- Ghosh, S., Wu, M.D., Shaftel, S.S., Kyrkanides, S., LaFerla, F.M., Olschowka, J.A., O'Banion, M.K., 2013. Sustained interleukin-1beta overexpression exacerbates tau pathology despite reduced amyloid burden in an Alzheimer's mouse model. J. Neurosci. 33, 5053–5064.
- Giannakopoulos, P., Herrmann, F.R., Bussiere, T., Bouras, C., Kovari, E., Perl, D.P., Morrison, J.H., Gold, G., Hof, P.R., 2003. Tangle and neuron numbers, but not amyloid load, predict cognitive status in Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 60, 1495–1500.
- Goedert, M., Spillantini, M.G., 2011. Pathogenesis of the tauopathies. J. Mol. Neurosci. 45, 425–431.
- Goedert, M., Spillantini, M.G., Jakes, R., Rutherford, D., Crowther, R.A., 1989. Multiple isoforms of human microtubule-associated protein tau: sequences and localization in neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease. Neuron 3, 519– 526.
- Goldstein, L.E., Fisher, A.M., Tagge, C.A., Zhang, X.L., Velisek, L., Sullivan, J.A., Upreti, C., Kracht, J.M., Ericsson, M., Wojnarowicz, M.W., Goletiani, C.J., Maglakelidze, G. M., Casey, N., Moncaster, J.A., Minaeva, O., Moir, R.D., Nowinski, C.J., Stern, R.A., Cantu, R.C., Geiling, J., Blusztajn, J.K., Wolozin, B.L., Ikezu, T., Stein, T.D., Budson, A.E., Kowall, N.W., Chargin, D., Sharon, A., Saman, S., Hall, G.F., Moss, W.C.,

Cleveland, Tanzi, R.E., Stanton, P.K., McKee, A.C., 2012. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in blast-exposed military veterans and a blast neurotrauma mouse model. Sci Transl. Med. 4, 134ra160.

- Gomez-Isla, T., Hollister, R., West, H., Mui, S., Growdon, J.H., Petersen, R.C., Parisi, J. E., Hyman, B.T., 1997. Neuronal loss correlates with but exceeds neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 41, 17–24.
- Graham, D.I., McIntosh, T.K., Maxwell, W.L., Nicoll, J.A., 2000. Recent advances in neurotrauma. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 59, 641–651.
- Guo, Z., Cupples, L.A., Kurz, A., Auerbach, S.H., Volicer, L., Chui, H., Green, R.C., Sadovnick, A.D., Duara, R., DeCarli, C., Johnson, K., Go, R.C., Growdon, J.H., Haines, J.L., Kukull, W.A., Farrer, L.A., 2000. Head injury and the risk of AD in the MIRAGE study. Neurology 54, 1316–1323.
- Gyoneva, S., Ransohoff, R.M., 2015. Inflammatory reaction after traumatic brain injury: therapeutic potential of targeting cell-cell communication by chemokines. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 36, 471–480.
- Hall, A.M., Throesch, B.T., Buckingham, S.C., Markwardt, S.J., Peng, Y., Wang, Q., Hoffman, D.A., Roberson, E.D., 2015. Tau-dependent Kv4.2 depletion and dendritic hyperexcitability in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurosci. 35, 6221–6230.
- Hanes, J., Zilka, N., Bartkova, M., Caletkova, M., Dobrota, D., Novak, M., 2009. Rat tau proteome consists of six tau isoforms: implication for animal models of human tauopathies. J. Neurochem. 108, 1167–1176.
- Hanger, D.P., Anderton, B.H., Noble, W., 2009. Tau phosphorylation: the therapeutic challenge for neurodegenerative disease. Trends Mol. Med. 15, 112–119.
- Hawkins, B.E., Krishnamurthy, S., Castillo-Carranza, D.L., Sengupta, U., Prough, D.S., Jackson, G.R., DeWitt, D.S., Kayed, R., 2013. Rapid accumulation of endogenous tau oligomers in a rat model of traumatic brain injury: possible link between traumatic brain injury and sporadic tauopathies. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 17042– 17050.
- Hellewell, S.C., Yan, E.B., Agyapomaa, D.A., Bye, N., Morganti-Kossmann, M.C., 2010. Post-traumatic hypoxia exacerbates brain tissue damage: analysis of axonal injury and glial responses. J. Neurotrauma 27, 1997–2010.
- Hof, P.R., Bouras, C., Buee, L., Delacourte, A., Perl, D.P., Morrison, J.H., 1992. Differential distribution of neurofibrillary tangles in the cerebral cortex of dementia pugilistica and Alzheimer's disease cases. Acta Neuropathol. 85, 23–30.
- Holmin, S., Soderlund, J., Biberfeld, P., Mathiesen, T., 1998. Intracerebral inflammation after human brain contusion. Neurosurgery 42, 291–298. discussion 298–299.
- Hooper, C., Killick, R., Lovestone, S., 2008. The GSK3 hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. 104, 1433–1439.
- Hoover, B.R., Reed, M.N., Su, J., Penrod, R.D., Kotilinek, L.A., Grant, M.K., Pitstick, R., Carlson, G.A., Lanier, L.M., Yuan, L.L., Ashe, K.H., Liao, D., 2010. Tau mislocalization to dendritic spines mediates synaptic dysfunction independently of neurodegeneration. Neuron 68, 1067–1081.
- Hoshino, S., Tamaoka, A., Takahashi, M., Kobayashi, S., Furukawa, T., Oaki, Y., Mori, O., Matsuno, S., Shoji, S., Inomata, M., Teramoto, A., 1998. Emergence of immunoreactivities for phosphorylated tau and amyloid-beta protein in chronic stage of fluid percussion injury in rat brain. NeuroReport 9, 1879–1883.
- Huber, B.R., Meabon, J.S., Martin, T.J., Mourad, P.D., Bennett, R., Kraemer, B.C., Cernak, I., Petrie, E.C., Emery, M.J., Swenson, E.R., Mayer, C., Mehic, E., Peskind, E. R., Cook, D.G., 2013. Blast exposure causes early and persistent aberrant phospho- and cleaved-tau expression in a murine model of mild blast-induced traumatic brain injury. J. Alzheimers Dis. 37, 309–323.
- Huber, B.R., Alosco, M.L., Stein, T.D., McKee, A.C., 2016. Potential long-term consequences of concussive and subconcussive injury. Phys. Med. Rehabil. Clin. N. Am. 27, 503–511.
- Hull, M., Eistetter, J., Fiebich, B.L., Bauer, J., 1999. Glutamate but not interleukin-6 influences the phosphorylation of tau in primary rat hippocampal neurons. Neurosci. Lett. 261, 33–36.
- Ikonomovic, M.D., Uryu, K., Abrahamson, E.E., Ciallella, J.R., Trojanowski, J.Q., Lee, V. M., Clark, R.S., Marion, D.W., Wisniewski, S.R., DeKosky, S.T., 2004. Alzheimer's pathology in human temporal cortex surgically excised after severe brain injury. Exp. Neurol. 190, 192–203.
- Imbimbo, B.P., Solfrizzi, V., Panza, F., 2010. Are NSAIDs useful to treat Alzheimer's disease or mild cognitive impairment? Front. Aging Neurosci. 2.
- in t' Veld, B.A., Ruitenberg, A., Hofman, A., Launer, L.J., van Duijn, C.M., Stijnen, T., Breteler, M.M., Stricker, B.H., 2001. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and the risk of Alzheimer's disease. N. England J. Med. 345, 1515–1521.
- Johnson, V.E., Stewart, W., Smith, D.H., 2012. Widespread tau and amyloid-beta pathology many years after a single traumatic brain injury in humans. Brain Pathol. 22, 142–149.
- Johnson, V.E., Stewart, J.E., Begbie, F.D., Trojanowski, J.Q., Smith, D.H., Stewart, W., 2013. Inflammation and white matter degeneration persist for years after a single traumatic brain injury. Brain 136, 28–42.
- Joshi, Y.B., Giannopoulos, P.F., Chu, J., Pratico, D., 2014. Modulation of lipopolysaccharide-induced memory insult, gamma-secretase, and neuroinflammation in triple transgenic mice by 5-lipoxygenase. Neurobiol. Aging 35, 1024–1031.
- Kane, M.J., Angoa-Perez, M., Briggs, D.I., Viano, D.C., Kreipke, C.W., Kuhn, D.M., 2012. A mouse model of human repetitive mild traumatic brain injury. J. Neurosci. Methods 203, 41–49.
- Kitazawa, M., Oddo, S., Yamasaki, T.R., Green, K.N., LaFerla, F.M., 2005. Lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation exacerbates tau pathology by a cyclin-dependent kinase 5-mediated pathway in a transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurosci. 25, 8843–8853.

- Kitazawa, M., Cheng, D., Tsukamoto, M.R., Koike, M.A., Wes, P.D., Vasilevko, V., Cribbs, D.H., LaFerla, F.M., 2011. Blocking IL-1 signaling rescues cognition, attenuates tau pathology, and restores neuronal beta-catenin pathway function in an Alzheimer's disease model. J. Immunol. 187, 6539–6549.
- Koleske, A.J., 2013. Molecular mechanisms of dendrite stability. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 14, 536–550.
- Kopke, E., Tung, Y.C., Shaikh, S., Alonso, A.C., Iqbal, K., Grundke-Iqbal, I., 1993. Microtubule-associated protein tau. Abnormal phosphorylation of a non-paired helical filament pool in Alzheimer disease. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 24374–24384.
- helical filament pool in Alzheimer disease. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 24374–24384. Ksiezak-Reding, H., Liu, W.K., Yen, S.H., 1992. Phosphate analysis and dephosphorylation of modified tau associated with paired helical filaments. Brain Res. 597, 209–219.
- Kumar, A., Alvarez-Croda, D.M., Stoica, B.A., Faden, A.I., Loane, D.J., 2015a. Microglial/macrophage polarization dynamics following traumatic brain injury. J. Neurotrauma.
- Kumar, R.G., Boles, J.A., Wagner, A.K., 2015b. Chronic inflammation after severe traumatic brain injury: characterization and associations with outcome at 6 and 12 months postinjury. J. Head Trauma Rehab. 30, 369–381.
- Kumar, R.G., Diamond, M.L., Boles, J.A., Berger, R.P., Tisherman, S.A., Kochanek, P.M., Wagner, A.K., 2015c. Acute CSF interleukin-6 trajectories after TBI: associations with neuroinflammation, polytrauma, and outcome. Brain Behav. Immun. 45, 253–262.
- Kurz, A., Riemenschneider, M., Buch, K., Willoch, F., Bartenstein, P., Muller, U., Guder, W., 1998. Tau protein in cerebrospinal fluid is significantly increased at the earliest clinical stage of Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord. 12, 372–377.
- Lafrenaye, A.D., Todani, M., Walker, S.A., Povlishock, J.T., 2015. Microglia processes associate with diffusely injured axons following mild traumatic brain injury in the micro pig. J. Neuroinflamm. 12, 186.
- Lasagna-Reeves, C.A., Castillo-Carranza, D.L., Sengupta, U., Clos, A.L., Jackson, G.R., Kayed, R., 2011. Tau oligomers impair memory and induce synaptic and mitochondrial dysfunction in wild-type mice. Mol. Neurodegener. 6, 39.
- Lasagna-Reeves, C.A., Castillo-Carranza, D.L., Sengupta, U., Guerrero-Munoz, M.J., Kiritoshi, T., Neugebauer, V., Jackson, G.R., Kayed, R., 2012. Alzheimer brainderived tau oligomers propagate pathology from endogenous tau. Sci. Rep. 2, 700.
- Lee, C.Y., Landreth, G.E., 2010. The role of microglia in amyloid clearance from the AD brain. J. Neural Transm. 117, 949–960.
- Lee, G., Neve, R.L., Kosik, K.S., 1989. The microtubule binding domain of tau protein. Neuron 2, 1615–1624.
- Lee, D.C., Rizer, J., Selenica, M.L., Reid, P., Kraft, C., Johnson, A., Blair, L., Gordon, M.N., Dickey, C.A., Morgan, D., 2010. LPS-induced inflammation exacerbates phosphotau pathology in rTg4510 mice. J. Neuroinflamm. 7, 56.
- Lee, Y.K., Hou, S.W., Lee, C.C., Hsu, C.Y., Huang, Y.S., Su, Y.C., 2013. Increased risk of dementia in patients with mild traumatic brain injury: a nationwide cohort study. PLoS One 8, e62422.
- Li, Y., Liu, L., Barger, S.W., Griffin, W.S., 2003. Interleukin-1 mediates pathological effects of microglia on tau phosphorylation and on synaptophysin synthesis in cortical neurons through a p38-MAPK pathway. J. Neurosci. 23, 1605–1611.
- Li, Y., Chavko, M., Slack, J.L., Liu, B., McCarron, R.M., Ross, J.D., Dalle Lucca, J.J., 2013. Protective effects of decay-accelerating factor on blast-induced neurotrauma in rats. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 1, 52.
- Li, W., Risacher, S.L., McAllister, T.W., Saykin, A.J., Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I, 2016. Erratum to: traumatic brain injury and age at onset of cognitive impairment in older adults. J. Neurol. 263, 1286.
- Lindwall, G., Cole, R.D., 1984. Phosphorylation affects the ability of tau protein to promote microtubule assembly. J. Biol. Chem. 259, 5301–5305.
 Liu, F., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., Gong, C.X., 2005. Contributions of protein
- Liu, F., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., Gong, C.X., 2005. Contributions of protein phosphatases PP1, PP2A, PP2B and PP5 to the regulation of tau phosphorylation. Eur. J. Neurosci. 22, 1942–1950.
- Loane, D.J., Kumar, A., Stoica, B.A., Cabatbat, R., Faden, A.I., 2014. Progressive neurodegeneration after experimental brain trauma: association with chronic microglial activation. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 73, 14–29.
- Lozano, D., Gonzales-Portillo, G.S., Acosta, S., de la Pena, I., Tajiri, N., Kaneko, Y., Borlongan, C.V., 2015. Neuroinflammatory responses to traumatic brain injury: etiology, clinical consequences, and therapeutic opportunities. Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat 11, 97–106.
- Lull, M.E., Block, M.L., 2010. Microglial activation and chronic neurodegeneration. Neurotherapeutics 7, 354–365.
- Luo, X.G., Chen, S.D., 2012. The changing phenotype of microglia from homeostasis to disease. Transl. Neurodegener. 1, 9.
- Luo, J., Nguyen, A., Villeda, S., Zhang, H., Ding, Z., Lindsey, D., Bieri, G., Castellano, J. M., Beaupre, G.S., Wyss-Coray, T., 2014. Long-term cognitive impairments and pathological alterations in a mouse model of repetitive mild traumatic brain injury. Front. Neurol. 5, 12.
- Maeda, S., Sahara, N., Saito, Y., Murayama, M., Yoshiike, Y., Kim, H., Miyasaka, T., Murayama, S., Ikai, A., Takashima, A., 2007. Granular tau oligomers as intermediates of tau filaments. Biochemistry 46, 3856–3861.
- Mannix, R., Meehan, W.P., Mandeville, J., Grant, P.E., Gray, T., Berglass, J., Zhang, J., Bryant, J., Rezaie, S., Chung, J.Y., Peters, N.V., Lee, C., Tien, L.W., Kaplan, D.L., Feany, M., Whalen, M., 2013. Clinical correlates in an experimental model of repetitive mild brain injury. Ann. Neurol. 74, 65–75.
- Manson, J., Thiemermann, C., Brohi, K., 2012. Trauma alarmins as activators of damage-induced inflammation. Br. J. Surg. 99 (Suppl. 1), 12–20.
- Maxwell, W.L., Povlishock, J.T., Graham, D.L., 1997. A mechanistic analysis of nondisruptive axonal injury: a review. J. Neurotrauma 14, 419–440.

- Mazanetz, M.P., Fischer, P.M., 2007. Untangling tau hyperphosphorylation in drug design for neurodegenerative diseases. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 6, 464–479.
- McAteer, K.M., Corrigan, F., Thornton, E., Turner, R.J., Vink, R., 2016. Short and long term behavioral and pathological changes in a novel rodent model of repetitive mild traumatic brain injury. PLoS One 11, e0160220.
- McCrory, P., Meeuwisse, W., Aubry, M., Cantu, B., Dvorak, J., Echemendia, R., Engebretsen, L., Johnston, K., Kutcher, J., Raftery, M., Sills, A., Benson, B., Davis, G., Ellenbogen, R., Guskiewicz, K., Herring, S.A., Iverson, G., Jordan, B., Kissick, J., McCrea, M., McIntosh, A., Maddocks, D., Makdissi, M., Purcell, L., Putukian, M., Schneider, K., Tator, C., Turner, M. 2013. Consensus statement on Concussion in Sport – The 4th International Conference on Concussion in Sport held in Zurich, November 2012. Phys Ther Sport, 14, pp. e1–e13.
- McGeer, P.L., Schulzer, M., McGeer, E.G., 1996. Arthritis and anti-inflammatory agents as possible protective factors for Alzheimer's disease: a review of 17 epidemiologic studies. Neurology 47, 425–432.
- McKee, A.C., Carreras, I., Hossain, L., Ryu, H., Klein, W.L., Oddo, S., LaFerla, F.M., Jenkins, B.G., Kowall, N.W., Dedeoglu, A., 2008. Ibuprofen reduces Abeta, hyperphosphorylated tau and memory deficits in Alzheimer mice. Brain Res. 1207, 225–236.
- McKee, A.C., Cantu, R.C., Nowinski, C.J., Hedley-Whyte, E.T., Gavett, B.E., Budson, A. E., Santini, V.E., Lee, H.S., Kubilus, C.A., Stern, R.A., 2009. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in athletes: progressive tauopathy after repetitive head injury. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 68, 709–735.
- McKee, A.C., Stern, R.A., Nowinski, C.J., Stein, T.D., Alvarez, V.E., Daneshvar, D.H., Lee, H.S., Wojtowicz, S.M., Hall, G., Baugh, C.M., Riley, D.O., Kubilus, C.A., Cormier, K. A., Jacobs, M.A., Martin, B.R., Abraham, C.R., Ikezu, T., Reichard, R.R., Wolozin, B. L., Budson, A.E., Goldstein, L.E., Kowall, N.W., Cantu, R.C., 2013. The spectrum of disease in chronic traumatic encephalopathy. Brain 136, 43–64.
- McKee, A.C., Daneshvar, D.H., Alvarez, V.E., Stein, T.D., 2014. The neuropathology of sport. Acta Neuropathol. 127, 29–51.
- McKee, A.C., Stein, T.D., Kiernan, P.T., Alvarez, V.E., 2015. The neuropathology of chronic traumatic encephalopathy. Brain Pathol. 25, 350–364.
- McKee, A.C., Cairns, N.J., Dickson, D.W., Folkerth, R.D., Keene, C.D., Litvan, I., Perl, D. P., Stein, T.D., Vonsattel, J.P., Stewart, W., Tripodis, Y., Crary, J.F., Bieniek, K.F., Dams-O'Connor, K., Alvarez, V.E., Gordon, W.A., Group, T.C., 2016. The first NINDS/NIBIB consensus meeting to define neuropathological criteria for the diagnosis of chronic traumatic encephalopathy. Acta Neuropathol. 131, 75–86.
- Medina, M., Avila, J., 2014. The role of extracellular Tau in the spreading of neurofibrillary pathology. Front. Cell Neurosci. 8, 113.
- Medina, M., Hernandez, F., Avila, J., 2016. New features about tau function and dysfunction. Biomolecules 6.
- Mendoza, J., Sekiya, M., Taniguchi, T., Iijima, K.M., Wang, R., Ando, K., 2013. Global analysis of phosphorylation of tau by the checkpoint kinases Chk1 and Chk2 in vitro. J. Proteome Res. 12, 2654–2665.
- Michel, C.H., Kumar, S., Pinotsi, D., Tunnacliffe, A., St George-Hyslop, P., Mandelkow, E., Mandelkow, E.M., Kaminski, C.F., Kaminski Schierle, G.S., 2014. Extracellular monomeric tau protein is sufficient to initiate the spread of tau protein pathology. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 956–967.
- Miyasaka, T., Sato, S., Tatebayashi, Y., Takashima, A., 2010. Microtubule destruction induces tau liberation and its subsequent phosphorylation. FEBS Lett. 584, 3227–3232.
- Morganti-Kossman, M.C., Lenzlinger, P.M., Hans, V., Stahel, P., Csuka, E., Ammann, E., Stocker, R., Trentz, O., Kossmann, T., 1997. Production of cytokines following brain injury: beneficial and deleterious for the damaged tissue. Mol. Psychiatry 2, 133–136.
- Morihara, T., Chu, T., Ubeda, O., Beech, W., Cole, G.M., 2002. Selective inhibition of Abeta42 production by NSAID R-enantiomers. J. Neurochem. 83, 1009–1012.
- Morris, G.P., Clark, I.A., Vissel, B., 2014. Inconsistencies and controversies surrounding the amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 2, 135.
- Mortimer, J.A., vanDuijn, C.M., Chandra, V., Fratiglioni, L., Graves, A.B., Heyman, A., Jorm, A.F., Kokmen, E., Kondo, K., Rocca, W.A., Amp, et al., 1991. Head trauma as a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease: a collaborative re-analysis of case-control studies. EURODEM Risk Factors Research Group. Int. J. Epidemiol. 20 (Suppl. 2), S28–35.
- Mouzon, B., Chaytow, H., Crynen, G., Bachmeier, C., Stewart, J., Mullan, M., Stewart, W., Crawford, F., 2012. Repetitive mild traumatic brain injury in a mouse model produces learning and memory deficits accompanied by histological changes. J. Neurotrauma 29, 2761–2773.
- Mouzon, B.C., Bachmeier, C., Ferro, A., Ojo, J.O., Crynen, G., Acker, C.M., Davies, P., Mullan, M., Stewart, W., Crawford, F., 2014. Chronic neuropathological and neurobehavioral changes in a repetitive mild traumatic brain injury model. Ann. Neurol. 75, 241–254.
- Muccigrosso, M.M., Ford, J., Benner, B., Moussa, D., Burnsides, C., Fenn, A.M., Popovich, P.G., Lifshitz, J., Walker, F.R., Eiferman, D.S., Godbout, J.P., 2016. Cognitive deficits develop 1month after diffuse brain injury and are exaggerated by microglia-associated reactivity to peripheral immune challenge. Brain Behav. Immun. 54, 95–109.
- Nelson, P.T., Alafuzoff, I., Bigio, E.H., Bouras, C., Braak, H., Cairns, N.J., Castellani, R.J., Crain, B.J., Davies, P., Del Tredici, K., Duyckaerts, C., Frosch, M.P., Haroutunian, V., Hof, P.R., Hulette, C.M., Hyman, B.T., Iwatsubo, T., Jellinger, K.A., Jicha, G.A., Kovari, E., Kukull, W.A., Leverenz, J.B., Love, S., Mackenzie, I.R., Mann, D.M., Masliah, E., McKee, A.C., Montine, T.J., Morris, J.C., Schneider, J.A., Sonnen, J.A., Thal, D.R., Trojanowski, J.Q., Troncoso, J.C., Wisniewski, T., Woltjer, R.L., Beach, T. G., 2012. Correlation of Alzheimer disease neuropathologic changes with

cognitive status: a review of the literature. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 71, 362–381.

- Neve, R.L., Harris, P., Kosik, K.S., Kurnit, D.M., Donlon, T.A., 1986. Identification of cDNA clones for the human microtubule-associated protein tau and chromosomal localization of the genes for tau and microtubule-associated protein 2. Brain Res. 387, 271–280.
- Noble, W., Garwood, C., Stephenson, J., Kinsey, A.M., Hanger, D.P., Anderton, B.H., 2009. Minocycline reduces the development of abnormal tau species in models of Alzheimer's disease. FASEB J. 23, 739–750.
- Norden, D.M., Muccigrosso, M.M., Godbout, J.P., 2015. Microglial priming and enhanced reactivity to secondary insult in aging, and traumatic CNS injury, and neurodegenerative disease. Neuropharmacology 96, 29–41.
- Nordstrom, P., Michaelsson, K., Gustafson, Y., Nordstrom, A., 2014. Traumatic brain injury and young onset dementia: a nationwide cohort study. Ann. Neurol. 75, 374–381.
- Ojo, J.O., Mouzon, B., Greenberg, M.B., Bachmeier, C., Mullan, M., Crawford, F., 2013. Repetitive mild traumatic brain injury augments tau pathology and glial activation in aged hTau mice. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 72, 137–151.
- Omalu, B.I., DeKosky, S.T., Minster, R.L., Kamboh, M.I., Hamilton, R.L., Wecht, C.H., 2005. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in a National Football League player. Neurosurgery 57, 128–134. discussion 128–134.
- Omalu, B.I., DeKosky, S.T., Hamilton, R.L., Minster, R.L., Kamboh, M.I., Shakir, A.M., Wecht, C.H., 2006. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in a national football league player: part II. Neurosurgery 59, 1086–1092. discussion 1092–1083.
- Omalu, B.I., Fitzsimmons, R.P., Hammers, J., Bailes, J., 2010. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in a professional American wrestler. J. Forensic Nurs. 6, 130– 136.
- Omalu, B., Bailes, J., Hamilton, R.L., Kamboh, M.I., Hammers, J., Case, M., Fitzsimmons, R., 2011. Emerging histomorphologic phenotypes of chronic traumatic encephalopathy in American athletes. Neurosurgery 69, 173–183. discussion 183.
- Ossenkoppele, R., Schonhaut, D.R., Scholl, M., Lockhart, S.N., Ayakta, N., Baker, S.L., O'Neil, J.P., Janabi, M., Lazaris, A., Cantwell, A., Vogel, J., Santos, M., Miller, Z.A., Bettcher, B.M., Vossel, K.A., Kramer, J.H., Gorno-Tempini, M.L., Miller, B.L., Jagust, W.J., Rabinovici, G.D., 2016. Tau PET patterns mirror clinical and neuroanatomical variability in Alzheimer's disease. Brain 139, 1551–1567.
- Parachikova, A., Vasilevko, V., Cribbs, D.H., LaFerla, F.M., Green, K.N., 2010. Reductions in amyloid-beta-derived neuroinflammation, with minocycline, restore cognition but do not significantly affect tau hyperphosphorylation. J. Alzheimers Dis. 21, 527–542.
- Patterson, K.R., Remmers, C., Fu, Y., Brooker, S., Kanaan, N.M., Vana, L., Ward, S., Reyes, J.F., Philibert, K., Glucksman, M.J., Binder, L.I., 2011. Characterization of prefibrillar Tau oligomers in vitro and in Alzheimer disease. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 23063–23076.
- Perez, M., Santa-Maria, I., Tortosa, E., Cuadros, R., Del Valle, M., Hernandez, F., Moreno, F.J., Avila, J., 2007. The role of the VQIVYK peptide in tau protein phosphorylation. J. Neurochem. 103, 1447–1460.
- Perez-Polo, J.R., Rea, H.C., Johnson, K.M., Parsley, M.A., Unabia, G.C., Xu, G.Y., Prough, D., DeWitt, D.S., Spratt, H., Hulsebosch, C.E., 2015. A rodent model of mild traumatic brain blast injury. J. Neurosci. Res. 93, 549–561.
- Petraglia, A.L., Plog, B.A., Dayawansa, S., Dashnaw, M.L., Czerniecka, K., Walker, C.T., Chen, M., Hyrien, O., Iliff, J.J., Deane, R., Huang, J.H., Nedergaard, M., 2014. The pathophysiology underlying repetitive mild traumatic brain injury in a novel mouse model of chronic traumatic encephalopathy. Surg. Neurol. Int. 5, 184.
- Pettus, E.H., Christman, C.W., Giebel, M.L., Povlishock, J.T., 1994. Traumatically induced altered membrane permeability: its relationship to traumatically induced reactive axonal change. J. Neurotrauma 11, 507–522.
- Planel, E., Krishnamurthy, P., Miyasaka, T., Liu, L., Herman, M., Kumar, A., Bretteville, A., Figueroa, H.Y., Yu, W.H., Whittington, R.A., Davies, P., Takashima, A., Nixon, R. A., Duff, K.E., 2008. Anesthesia-induced hyperphosphorylation detaches 3repeat tau from microtubules without affecting their stability in vivo. J. Neurosci. 28, 12798–12807.
- Plassman, B.L., Havlik, R.J., Steffens, D.C., Helms, M.J., Newman, T.N., Drosdick, D., Phillips, C., Gau, B.A., Welsh-Bohmer, K.A., Burke, J.R., Guralnik, J.M., Breitner, J. C., 2000. Documented head injury in early adulthood and risk of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias. Neurology 55, 1158–1166.Pooler, A.M., Phillips, E.C., Lau, D.H., Noble, W., Hanger, D.P., 2013. Physiological
- Pooler, A.M., Phillips, E.C., Lau, D.H., Noble, W., Hanger, D.P., 2013. Physiological release of endogenous tau is stimulated by neuronal activity. EMBO Rep. 14, 389–394.
- Povlishock, J.T., Pettus, E.H., 1996. Traumatically induced axonal damage: evidence for enduring changes in axolemmal permeability with associated cytoskeletal change. Acta Neurochir. Suppl. 66, 81–86.
- Probst, A., Botez, G., Tolnay, M., 1999. Neuropathological aspects of Alzheimer disease. Therapeutische Umschau. Revue therapeutique 56, 88–93.
- Quintanilla, R.A., Orellana, D.I., Gonzalez-Billault, C., Maccioni, R.B., 2004. Interleukin-6 induces Alzheimer-type phosphorylation of tau protein by deregulating the cdk5/p35 pathway. Exp. Cell Res. 295, 245–257.
- Roe, A.D., Staup, M.A., Serrats, J., Sawchenko, P.E., Rissman, R.A., 2011. Lipopolysaccharide-induced tau phosphorylation and kinase activitymodulation, but not mediation, by corticotropin-releasing factor receptors. Eur. J. Neurosci. 34, 448–456.
- Rolstad, S., Jakobsson, J., Sellgren, C., Ekman, C.J., Blennow, K., Zetterberg, H., Palsson, E., Landen, M., 2015. Cognitive performance and cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers of neurodegeneration: a study of patients with bipolar disorder and healthy controls. PLoS One 10, e0127100.

- Saatman, K.E., Bozyczko-Coyne, D., Marcy, V., Siman, R., McIntosh, T.K., 1996. Prolonged calpain-mediated spectrin breakdown occurs regionally following experimental brain injury in the rat. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 55, 850–860.
- Saatman, K.E., Abai, B., Grosvenor, A., Vorwerk, C.K., Smith, D.H., Meaney, D.F., 2003. Traumatic axonal injury results in biphasic calpain activation and retrograde transport impairment in mice. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 23, 34–42.
- Sawmiller, D., Li, S., Shahaduzzaman, M., Smith, A.J., Obregon, D., Giunta, B., Borlongan, C.V., Sanberg, P.R., Tan, J., 2014. Luteolin reduces Alzheimer's disease pathologies induced by traumatic brain injury. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 15, 895–904.
- Scheltens, P., Blennow, K., Breteler, M.M., de Strooper, B., Frisoni, G.B., Salloway, S., Van der Flier, W.M., 2016. Alzheimer's disease. Lancet.
- Semple, B.D., Bye, N., Rancan, M., Ziebell, J.M., Morganti-Kossmann, M.C., 2010. Role of CCL2 (MCP-1) in traumatic brain injury (TBI): evidence from severe TBI patients and CCL2-/- mice. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 30, 769–782.
- Sengupta, A., Kabat, J., Novak, M., Wu, Q., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., 1998. Phosphorylation of tau at both Thr 231 and Ser 262 is required for maximal inhibition of its binding to microtubules. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 357, 299–309.
- Serbest, G., Burkhardt, M.F., Siman, R., Raghupathi, R., Saatman, K.E., 2007. Temporal profiles of cytoskeletal protein loss following traumatic axonal injury in mice. Neurochem. Res. 32, 2006–2014.
- Sheng, J.G., Zhu, S.G., Jones, R.A., Griffin, W.S., Mrak, R.E., 2000. Interleukin-1 promotes expression and phosphorylation of neurofilament and tau proteins in vivo. Exp. Neurol. 163, 388–391.
- Shi, J.Q., Shen, W., Chen, J., Wang, B.R., Zhong, L.L., Zhu, Y.W., Zhu, H.Q., Zhang, Q.Q., Zhang, Y.D., Xu, J., 2011. Anti-TNF-alpha reduces amyloid plaques and tau phosphorylation and induces CD11c-positive dendritic-like cell in the APP/PS1 transgenic mouse brains. Brain Res. 1368, 239–247.
- Shultz, S.R., Bao, F., Omana, V., Chiu, C., Brown, A., Cain, D.P., 2012. Repeated mild lateral fluid percussion brain injury in the rat causes cumulative long-term behavioral impairments, neuroinflammation, and cortical loss in an animal model of repeated concussion. J. Neurotrauma 29, 281–294.
- Shultz, S.R., Wright, D.K., Zheng, P., Stuchbery, R., Liu, S.J., Sashindranath, M., Medcalf, R.L., Johnston, L.A., Hovens, C.M., Jones, N.C., O'Brien, T.J., 2015. Sodium selenate reduces hyperphosphorylated tau and improves outcomes after traumatic brain injury. Brain 138, 1297–1313.
- Smith, C., Graham, D.I., Murray, L.S., Nicoll, J.A., 2003a. Tau immunohistochemistry in acute brain injury. Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol. 29, 496–502.
- Smith, D.H., Meaney, D.F., Shull, W.H., 2003b. Diffuse axonal injury in head trauma. J. Head Trauma Rehab. 18, 307–316.
- Smith, D.H., Johnson, V.E., Stewart, W., 2013. Chronic neuropathologies of single and repetitive TBI: substrates of dementia? Nat. Rev. Neurol. 9, 211–221.
- Soares, H.D., Hicks, R.R., Smith, D., McIntosh, T.K., 1995. Inflammatory leukocytic recruitment and diffuse neuronal degeneration are separate pathological processes resulting from traumatic brain injury. J. Neurosci. 15, 8223–8233.
- Spires-Jones, T.L., Hyman, B.T., 2014. The intersection of amyloid beta and tau at synapses in Alzheimer's disease. Neuron 82, 756–771.
- Stein, T.D., Alvarez, V.E., McKee, A.C., 2014. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy: a spectrum of neuropathological changes following repetitive brain trauma in athletes and military personnel. Alzheimers Res. Ther. 6, 4.
- Stein, T.D., Alvarez, V.E., McKee, A.C., 2015a. Concussion in chronic traumatic encephalopathy. Curr. Pain Headache Rep. 19, 47.
- Stein, T.D., Montenigro, P.H., Alvarez, V.E., Xia, W., Crary, J.F., Tripodis, Y., Daneshvar, D.H., Mez, J., Solomon, T., Meng, G., Kubilus, C.A., Cormier, K.A., Meng, S., Babcock, K., Kiernan, P., Murphy, L., Nowinski, C.J., Martin, B., Dixon, D., Stern, R. A., Cantu, R.C., Kowall, N.W., McKee, A.C., 2015b. Beta-amyloid deposition in chronic traumatic encephalopathy. Acta Neuropathol. 130, 21–34.
- Sy, M., Kitazawa, M., Medeiros, R., Whitman, L., Cheng, D., Lane, T.E., Laferla, F.M., 2011. Inflammation induced by infection potentiates tau pathological features in transgenic mice. Am. J. Pathol. 178, 2811–2822.
- Tan, A.A., Quigley, A., Smith, D.C., Hoane, M.R., 2009. Strain differences in response to traumatic brain injury in Long-Evans compared to Sprague-Dawley rats. J. Neurotrauma 26, 539–548.
- Tan, X.L., Wright, D.K., Liu, S., Hovens, C., O'Brien, T.J., Shultz, S.R., 2016. Sodium selenate, a protein phosphatase 2A activator, mitigates hyperphosphorylated tau and improves repeated mild traumatic brain injury outcomes. Neuropharmacology.
- Teasdale, G., Jennett, B., 1974. Assessment of coma and impaired consciousness. A practical scale. Lancet 2, 81–84.
- Terwel, D., Dewachter, I., Van Leuven, F., 2002. Axonal transport, tau protein, and neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. NeuroMol. Med. 2, 151–165.
- Thal, D.R., Rub, U., Orantes, M., Braak, H., 2002. Phases of A beta-deposition in the human brain and its relevance for the development of AD. Neurology 58, 1791–1800.
- Thies, E., Mandelkow, E.M., 2007. Missorting of tau in neurons causes degeneration of synapses that can be rescued by the kinase MARK2/Par-1. J. Neurosci. 27, 2896–2907.
- Tran, H.T., LaFerla, F.M., Holtzman, D.M., Brody, D.L., 2011. Controlled cortical impact traumatic brain injury in 3xTg-AD mice causes acute intra-axonal amyloid-beta accumulation and independently accelerates the development of tau abnormalities. J. Neurosci. 31, 9513–9525.
- Uryu, K., Chen, X.H., Martinez, D., Browne, K.D., Johnson, V.E., Graham, D.I., Lee, V.M., Trojanowski, J.Q., Smith, D.H., 2007. Multiple proteins implicated in neurodegenerative diseases accumulate in axons after brain trauma in humans. Exp. Neurol. 208, 185–192.

- van Helmond, Z., Miners, J.S., Kehoe, P.G., Love, S., 2010. Oligomeric Abeta in Alzheimer's disease: relationship to plaque and tangle pathology, APOE genotype and cerebral amyloid angiopathy. Brain Pathol. 20, 468–480.
- Vana, L., Kanaan, N.M., Ugwu, I.C., Wuu, J., Mufson, E.J., Binder, L.I., 2011. Progression of tau pathology in cholinergic Basal forebrain neurons in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. Am. J. Pathol. 179, 2533–2550.
- Wang, H.K., Lin, S.H., Sung, P.S., Wu, M.H., Hung, K.W., Wang, L.C., Huang, C.Y., Lu, K., Chen, H.J., Tsai, K.J., 2012. Population based study on patients with traumatic brain injury suggests increased risk of dementia. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 83, 1080–1085.
- Wang, G., Zhang, J., Hu, X., Zhang, L., Mao, L., Jiang, X., Liou, A.K., Leak, R.K., Gao, Y., Chen, J., 2013a. Microglia/macrophage polarization dynamics in white matter after traumatic brain injury. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 33, 1864–1874.
- Wang, J.Z., Xia, Y.Y., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., 2013b. Abnormal hyperphosphorylation of tau: sites, regulation, and molecular mechanism of neurofibrillary degeneration. J. Alzheimers Dis. 33 (Suppl. 1), S123–S139.
- Washington, P.M., Villapol, S., Burns, M.P., 2016. Polypathology and dementia after brain trauma: Does brain injury trigger distinct neurodegenerative diseases, or should they be classified together as traumatic encephalopathy? Exp. Neurol. 275 (Pt 3), 381–388.
- Weggen, S., Eriksen, J.L., Das, P., Sagi, S.A., Wang, R., Pietrzik, C.U., Findlay, K.A., Smith, T.E., Murphy, M.P., Bulter, T., Kang, D.E., Marquez-Sterling, N., Golde, T.E., Koo, E.H., 2001. A subset of NSAIDs lower amyloidogenic Abeta42 independently of cyclooxygenase activity. Nature 414, 212–216.
- Weil, Z.M., Gaier, K.R., Karelina, K., 2014. Injury timing alters metabolic, inflammatory and functional outcomes following repeated mild traumatic brain injury. Neurobiol. Dis. 70, 108–116.
- Weingarten, M.D., Lockwood, A.H., Hwo, S.Y., Kirschner, M.W., 1975. A protein factor essential for microtubule assembly. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 72, 1858– 1862.
- Wilson, A.C., Dugger, B.N., Dickson, D.W., Wang, D.S., 2011. TDP-43 in aging and Alzheimer's disease a review. Int. J. Clin. Experiment. Pathol. 4, 147–155.
- Winston, C.N., Noel, A., Neustadtl, A., Parsadanian, M., Barton, D.J., Chellappa, D., Wilkins, T.E., Alikhani, A.D., Zapple, D.N., Villapol, S., Planel, E., Burns, M.P., 2016. Dendritic spine loss and chronic white matter inflammation in a mouse model of highly repetitive head trauma. Am. J. Pathol. 186, 552–567.

- Witcher, K.G., Eiferman, D.S., Godbout, J.P., 2015. Priming the inflammatory pump of the CNS after traumatic brain injury. Trends Neurosci. 38, 609–620.
 Woodcock, T., Morganti-Kossmann, M.C., 2013. The role of markers of inflammation
- Woodcock, T., Morganti-Kossmann, M.C., 2013. The role of markers of inflammation in traumatic brain injury. Front. Neurol. 4, 18.
- Woodling, N.S., Colas, D., Wang, Q., Minhas, P., Panchal, M., Liang, X., Mhatre, S.D., Brown, H., Ko, N., Zagol-Ikapitte, I., van der Hart, M., Khroyan, T.V., Chuluun, B., Priyam, P.G., Milne, G.L., Rassoulpour, A., Boutaud, O., Manning-Bog, A.B., Heller, H.C., Andreasson, K.I., 2016. Cyclooxygenase inhibition targets neurons to prevent early behavioural decline in Alzheimer's disease model mice. Brain 139, 2063–2081.
- Wu, J.W., Hussaini, S.A., Bastille, I.M., Rodriguez, G.A., Mrejeru, A., Rilett, K., Sanders, D.W., Cook, C., Fu, H., Boonen, R.A., Herman, M., Nahmani, E., Emrani, S., Figueroa, Y.H., Diamond, M.I., Clelland, C.L., Wray, S., Duff, K.E., 2016. Neuronal activity enhances tau propagation and tau pathology in vivo. Nat. Neurosci.
- Yamada, K., Holth, J.K., Liao, F., Stewart, F.R., Mahan, T.E., Jiang, H., Cirrito, J.R., Patel, T.K., Hochgrafe, K., Mandelkow, E.M., Holtzman, D.M., 2014. Neuronal activity regulates extracellular tau in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 211, 387–393.
- Yoshiyama, Y., Higuchi, M., Zhang, B., Huang, S.M., Iwata, N., Saido, T.C., Maeda, J., Suhara, T., Trojanowski, J.Q., Lee, V.M., 2007. Synapse loss and microglial activation precede tangles in a P301S tauopathy mouse model. Neuron 53, 337– 351.
- Zhang, B., Maiti, A., Shively, S., Lakhani, F., McDonald-Jones, G., Bruce, J., Lee, E.B., Xie, S.X., Joyce, S., Li, C., Toleikis, P.M., Lee, V.M., Trojanowski, J.Q., 2005. Microtubule-binding drugs offset tau sequestration by stabilizing microtubules and reversing fast axonal transport deficits in a tauopathy model. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102, 227–231.
- Zhang, B., Carroll, J., Trojanowski, J.Q., Yao, Y., Iba, M., Potuzak, J.S., Hogan, A.M., Xie, S.X., Ballatore, C., Smith 3rd, A.B., Lee, V.M., Brunden, K.R., 2012. The microtubule-stabilizing agent, epothilone D, reduces axonal dysfunction, neurotoxicity, cognitive deficits, and Alzheimer-like pathology in an interventional study with aged tau transgenic mice. J. Neurosci. 32, 3601–3611.
- Ziebell, J.M., Morganti-Kossmann, M.C., 2010. Involvement of pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines and chemokines in the pathophysiology of traumatic brain injury. Neurotherapeutics 7, 22–30.
- Zindler, E., Zipp, F., 2010. Neuronal injury in chronic CNS inflammation. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Anaesthesiol. 24, 551–562.